Notice of Meeting

Southern Area
Planning Committee
Date:

Tuesday 2 November 2021

Time:

5.30 pm

Venue:

Main Hall, Crosfield Hall, Broadwater Road, Romsey, Hampshire,
SO51 8GL

For further information or enquiries please contact:
Caroline Lovelock - 01264 368014
clovelock@testvalley.gov.uk

Legal and Democratic Service
Test Valley Borough Council,
Beech Hurst, Weyhill Road,
Andover, Hampshire,
SP10 3AJ
www.testvalley.gov.uk

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION SCHEME
If members of the public wish to address the meeting they should notify the
Legal and Democratic Service at the Council's Beech Hurst office by noon
on the working day before the meeting.

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Membership of Southern Area Planning Committee
MEMBER

WARD

Councillor M Cooper (Chairman)

Romsey Tadburn

Councillor M Hatley (Vice-Chairman)

Ampfield & Braishfield

Councillor G Bailey

Blackwater

Councillor P Bundy

Chilworth, Nursling & Rownhams

Councillor J Burnage

Romsey Cupernham

Councillor A Dowden

Valley Park

Councillor C Dowden

North Baddesley

Councillor S Gidley

Romsey Abbey

Councillor I Jeffrey

Mid Test

Councillor M Maltby

Chilworth, Nursling & Rownhams

Councillor J Parker

Romsey Tadburn

Councillor A Ward

Mid Test

Councillor A Warnes

North Baddesley

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Southern Area Planning Committee
Tuesday 2 November 2021
AGENDA
The order of these items may change as a result of members
of the public wishing to speak

1

Apologies

2

Public Participation

3

Declarations of Interest

4

Urgent Items

5

Minutes of the meeting held on 12 October 2021

6

Information Notes

7

20/01448/FULLS - 03.07.2020

4-9
10 - 78

(OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION)
SITE: Land west of All Saints Church, Church Lane,
Awbridge, SO51 0HN AWBRIDGE
CASE OFFICER: Mr Paul Goodman
8

21/00718/FULLS - 01.04.2021
(OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION)
SITE: Holly Lodge, Chilworth Road, Chilworth, SO16 7JZ
CHILWORTH
CASE OFFICER: Mr Paul Goodman

79 - 127

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

ITEM 6

TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL
SOUTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE
INFORMATION NOTES

Availability of Background Papers
Background papers may be inspected up to five working days before the date of the
Committee meeting and for four years thereafter. Requests to inspect the
background papers, most of which will be on the application file, should be made to
the case officer named in the report or to the Development Manager. Although there
is no legal provision for inspection of the application file before the report is placed
on the agenda for the meeting, an earlier inspection may be agreed on application to
the Head of Planning and Building.
Reasons for Committee Consideration
The majority of applications are determined by the Head of Planning and Building in
accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation which is set out in the Council’s
Constitution. However, some applications are determined at the Area Planning
Committees and this will happen if any of the following reasons apply:
(a) Applications which are contrary to the provisions of an approved or draft
development plan or other statement of approved planning policy where
adverse representations have been received and which is recommended
for approval.
(b) Applications (excluding notifications) where a Member requests in writing,
with reasons and within the Application Publicity Expiry Date, that they be
submitted to Committee. A Member can withdraw this request at any time
prior to the determination of the application to enable its determination under
delegated powers.
(c) Applications submitted by or on behalf of the Council, or any company in
which the Council holds an interest, for its own developments except for the
approval of minor developments.
(d) Applications where the Head of Planning and Building Services recommends
refusal of an application solely on the basis of failure to achieve nutrient
neutrality where a Ward Member requests in writing, with reasons, within 72
hours of notification of the recommendation for refusal that they be submitted
to Committee for determination. A Member can withdraw this request at any
time prior to the determination of the application to enable its determination
under delegated powers.
(e) To determine applications (excluding applications for advertisement consent,
certificates of lawfulness, listed building consent, and applications resulting
from the withdrawal by condition of domestic permitted development rights;

Page 4

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes B, C, D, E, F, G, and H of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 or as
amended) on which a material planning objection(s) has been received within
the Application Publicity Expiry Date and which cannot be resolved by
negotiation or through the imposition of conditions and where the officer’s
recommendation is for approval, following consultation with the Ward
Members, the latter having the right to request that the application be
reported to Committee for decision.
Public Speaking at the Meeting
The Council has a public participation scheme, which invites members of the public,
Parish Council representatives and applicants to address the Committee on
applications. Full details of the scheme are available from Planning and Building
Services or from Democratic Services at the Council Offices, Beech Hurst, Weyhill
Road, Andover. Copies are usually sent to all those who have made
representations. Anyone wishing to speak must book with the Democratic Services
within the stipulated time period otherwise they will not be allowed to address the
Committee.
Speakers are limited to a total of three minutes per item for Councillors on the Area
Committee who have personal interests or where a Member has pre-determined
his/her position on the relevant application, three minutes for the Parish Council,
three minutes for all objectors, three minutes for all supporters and three minutes for
the applicant/agent and relevant Ward Members who are not Committee Members
will have a maximum of five minutes. Where there are multiple supporters or
multiple objectors wishing to speak the Chairman may limit individual speakers to
less than three minutes with a view to accommodating multiple speakers within the
three minute time limit. Speakers may be asked questions by the Members of the
Committee, but are not permitted to ask questions of others or to join in the debate.
Speakers are not permitted to circulate or display plans, photographs, illustrations or
textual material during the Committee meeting as any such material should be sent
to the Members and officers in advance of the meeting to allow them time to
consider the content.
Content of Officer’s Report
It should be noted that the Officer’s report will endeavour to include a summary of the
relevant site characteristics, site history, policy issues, consultations carried out with
both internal and external consultees and the public and then seek to make a
professional judgement as to whether permission should be granted. However, the
officer’s report will usually summarise many of the issues, particularly consultations
received from consultees and the public, and anyone wishing to see the full
response must ask to consult the application file.

Page 5

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Status of Officer’s Recommendations and Committee’s Decisions
The recommendations contained in this report are made by the officers at the time
the report was prepared. A different recommendation may be made at the meeting
should circumstances change and the officer’s recommendations may not be
accepted by the Committee.
In order to facilitate debate in relation to an application, the Chairman will move the
officer’s recommendations in the report, which will be seconded by the Vice
Chairman. Motions are debated by the Committee in accordance with the Council’s
Rules of Procedure. A binding decision is made only when the Committee has
formally considered and voted in favour of a motion in relation to the application and,
pursuant to that resolution, the decision notice has subsequently been issued by the
Council.
Conditions and Reasons for Refusal
Suggested reasons for refusal and any conditions are set out in full in the officer’s
recommendation.
Officers or the Committee may add further reasons for refusal or conditions during
the Committee meeting and Members may choose to refuse an application
recommended for permission by the Officers or to permit an application
recommended for refusal. In all cases, clear reasons will be given, by whoever is
promoting the new condition or reason for refusal, to explain why the change is being
made.
Decisions subject to Completion of a Planning Obligation
For some applications, a resolution is passed to grant planning permission subject to
the completion of an appropriate planning obligation (often referred to as a Section
106 agreement). The obligation can restrict development or the use of the land,
require operations or activities to be carried out, require the land to be used in a
specified way or require payments to be made to the authority.
New developments will usually be required to contribute towards the infrastructure
required to serve a site and to cater for additional demand created by any new
development and its future occupants. Typically, such requirements include
contributions to community facilities, village halls, parks and play areas, playing
fields and improvements to roads, footpaths, cycleways and public transport.
Upon completion of the obligation, the Head of Planning and Building is delegated to
grant permission subject to the listed conditions. However, it should be noted that
the obligation usually has to be completed sufficiently in advance of the planning
application determination date to allow the application to be issued. If this does not
happen, the application may be refused for not resolving the issues required within
the timescale set to deal with the application.

Page 6

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Deferred Applications
Applications may not be decided at the meeting for a number of reasons as follows:
*

The applicant may choose to withdraw the application. No further action
would be taken on that proposal and the file is closed.

*

Officers may recommend deferral because the information requested or
amended plans have not been approved or there is insufficient time for
consultation on amendments.

*

The Committee may resolve to seek additional information or amendments.

*

The Committee may resolve to visit the site to assess the effect of the
proposal on matters that are not clear from the plans or from the report.
These site visits are not public meetings.

Visual Display of Plans and Photographs
Plans are included in the officers’ reports in order to identify the site and its
surroundings. The location plan will normally be the most up-to-date available from
Ordnance Survey and to scale. The other plans are not a complete copy of the
application plans and may not be to scale, particularly when they have been reduced
from large size paper plans. If further information is needed or these plans are
unclear please refer to the submitted application on the Council’s website. Plans
displayed at the meeting to assist the Members may include material additional to
the written reports.
Photographs are used to illustrate particular points on most of the items and the
officers usually take these. Photographs submitted in advance by applicants or
objectors may be used at the discretion of the officers.
Human Rights
The European Convention on Human Rights” (“ECHR”) was brought into English
Law, via the Human Rights Act 1998 (“HRA”), as from October 2000.
The HRA introduces an obligation on the Council to act consistently with the ECHR.
There are 2 Convention Rights likely to be most relevant to Planning Decisions:
*

Article 1 of the 1st Protocol - The Right to the Enjoyment of Property.

*

Article 8 - Right for Respect for Home, Privacy and Family Life.

It is important to note that these types of right are not unlimited - although in
accordance with the EU concept of “proportionality”, any interference with these
rights must be sanctioned by Law (e.g. by the Town & Country Planning Acts) and
must go no further than necessary.

Page 7

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Essentially, private interests must be weighed against the wider public interest and
against competing private interests. Such a balancing exercise is already implicit in
the decision making processes of the Committee. However, Members must
specifically bear Human Rights issues in mind when reaching decisions on all
planning applications and enforcement action.
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC)
The Council has a duty under the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act
2006 as follows: "every public authority must, in exercising its functions, have regard,
so far as is consistent with the proper exercise of those functions, to the purpose of
conserving biodiversity".
It is considered that this duty has been properly addressed within the process
leading up to the formulation of the policies in the Revised Local Plan. Further
regard is had in relation to specific planning applications through completion of the
biodiversity checklists for validation, scoping and/or submission of Environmental
Statements and any statutory consultations with relevant conservation bodies on
biodiversity aspects of the proposals. Provided any recommendations arising from
these processes are conditioned as part of any grant of planning permission (or
included in reasons for refusal of any planning application) then the duty to ensure
that biodiversity interest has been conserved, as far as practically possible, will be
considered to have been met.
Other Legislation
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that
determination of applications be made in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan for the
Borough comprises the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016), and ‘made’
Neighbourhood Plans. Material considerations are defined by Case Law and
includes, amongst other things, draft Development Plan Documents (DPD),
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) and other relevant guidance including
Development Briefs, Government advice, amenity considerations, crime and
community safety, traffic generation and safety.
On the 19th February 2019 the Government published a revised National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF). The revised NPPF replaced and superseded the previous
NPPF published in 2018. The revised NPPF is a material consideration in planning
decisions.
So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the heart of the
revised NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. Decisions
should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This does not
change the statutory status of the development plan as a starting point for decision
making. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Where a planning application conflicts with an up to date
development plan, permission should not usually be granted. Local planning
authorities may take decisions which depart from an up to date development plan,

Page 8

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

but only if material considerations in a particular case indicate that the plan should
not be followed.
For decision-taking, applying the presumption in favour of sustainable development
means:



Approving development proposals that accord with an up to date development
plan without delay; or
Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which
are most important for determining the application are out of date, granting
permission unless:
o The application of policies in the revised NPPF that protect areas or assets
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the
development proposed; or
o Any adverse impact of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the revised
NPPF when taken as a whole.

Existing Local Plan policies should not be considered out of date because they were
adopted prior to the publication of the revised NPPF. Due weight should be given to
them, according to their degree of consistency with the revised NPPF (the closer the
policies in the Local Plan to the policies in the revised NPPF, the greater the weight
that may be given).

Page 9

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

ITEM 7

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

AMENDMENTS
CASE OFFICER

20/01448/FULLS
FULL APPLICATION - SOUTH
03.07.2020
Mr Fred Tucker
Land West of All Saints Church, Church Lane,
Awbridge, SO51 0HN AWBRIDGE
Proposal of three houses with detached garages and
package treatment plant; provide a car park and
graveyard extension for All Saints Church
Amended Plans/Details received 06.04.21, 26.02.21,
20.11.20, 12.11.20, 02.11.20 & 12.08.20.
Mr Paul Goodman

Background paper (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
The application is presented to SAPC at the request of a local ward member
as it raises issues of more than local public interest.

2.0
2.1

SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION
The application is situated to the southern side of Church Lane and within the
countryside area of Awbridge Parish. The broadly rectangular application site
is immediately to the west of the All Saints Church and is currently in use as a
horticultural nursery.

3.0
3.1

PROPOSAL
The application proposes the erection of three houses with detached garages
and package treatment plant; provide a car park and graveyard extension for
All Saints Church.

4.0
4.1

HISTORY
None

5.0
5.1

CONSULTATIONS
Planning Policy & Transport (Policy) – No objection;
 Policy COM9: Community Led Development – the previous Policy
response stated:
 In the absence of appropriate evidence which can demonstrate support
for these amended proposals in the wider community, in order to comply
with policy COM9 c) residents should be given the opportunity to view
the new proposals and submit comments either expressing support or
opposition.

Page 10

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021







Since then the applicant has placed material in the Parish newsletter
showing the updated plans and explaining the proposed changes; at the
end of the article the planning reference is provided and readers are
reminded that they may still make comments for or against the
proposals. The newsletter was delivered to all households in Awbridge
Parish and it is confirmed that no new comments on the proposal have
been received since the newsletter was circulated.
COM9 c) states “it is demonstrated that the community supports the
proposal”. The silence/lack of response to the latest consultation leads
to a conclusion of a neutral view – neither expressing support nor
opposition. Whilst this does not actively demonstrate positive support for
the proposal the applicant is correct in that people have been given
opportunity to comment (through a format which every household would
have been able to receive); and the applicant has followed through on
the previous Policy response; on this basis there is no objection.
The Case Officer should note that for COM9 c) the views of the
community should be seen against the proposal as a whole.

5.2

Planning & Building (Conservation) – Comment;
 The relocation of the carpark to the rear, and the siting of the graveyard
extension at the front of the site are considered significant
improvements. Graveyards are a typical feature in the setting of historic
churches, and therefore it will conserve and enhance the setting of the
church. The open, green, nature of the graveyard should also allow a
better appreciation of the church from the corner than the carpark would
have done, and create a buffer between the church and the new
dwellings.
 There is no objection to the removal of the community garden.
 The rendering of ‘house 3’ would not be supported. The general style of
the proposed dwelling is ‘Arts & Crafts’. Houses of this design would
generally be exposed brickwork (in this instance), and not rendered, and
it therefore looks incongruous.
 The three proposed dwellings each have an individual design (all
working generally from the ‘Arts and Crafts’ genre) which prevents the
development looking too uniform. To create further diversity, a subtly
different palette of materials could be used for each house instead of
rendering one – e.g. slightly different tones of bricks and tiles. A
condition for submission of materials and finishes is recommended.

5.3

Planning & Building (Landscape) – No objection,;
 The amendments include the removal of the community garden,
relocation of the proposed car park and graveyard extension and
alterations to the design of the dwellings.
 From a landscape perspective it is considered that the reduced scale
and revised layout of the car park and graveyard extension is a
significant improvement. The removal of the community garden also
provides the properties with more appropriately sized gardens, more in
character with that of the neighbouring properties.

Page 11

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

5.4

Planning & Building (Ecology) – No objection;
 Following previous concerns in relation to tree works, great crested
newts and the location of proposed mitigation measures, an updated
Ecological Assessment (Ecosupport, March 2021).
 Section 4.2.3 of the Ecological Assessment, it is outlined that no
additional trees are proposed to be removed, therefore I would raise no
further concern over the requirement for an update to the ecological
assessment in this regard.

5.5

HCC Highways – No objection, subject to condition.

5.6

HCC LLFA – No objection, subject to condition.

5.7

Natural England – No objection, subject to s106 to secure nitrate mitigation.

6.0
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS Expired 23.04.2021
Awbridge Parish Council (30.03.21)
The Parish Council wished to clarify a number of comments made in a
representation by Mr Coggon.
 In reference to the exhibition at the Church in 2019, he states that the
visitors survey undertook was garnered to show support for the scheme,
nor did it allow parishioners to have input on the design of the proposal.
He has no evidence of this and he has not raised this issue previously.
My personal recollection is the survey requested comments on the
scheme.
 In the comments regarding the January 2020 meeting of the PC, no
mention is made of the changes made to the plans as a result of
parishioner’s suggestions.
 Mr Coggon references a proposal by Mr and Mrs Jones regarding the
site of the proposed development, however he fails to mention that at
the February PC meeting, and to clarify the position of the applicants,
Mr Paul Airey (agent for the developer) when questioned by the council
clearly stated that an offer to purchase the site would not now be
considered.
 Several statements are made regarding the community survey
undertaken by the church in 2020, and the council’s involvement in this.
Mr Coggon fails to mention that councillors were contacted by myself as
chairman before saying it would be best for the survey not to be issued
by the council. Also that the council would take an 'overseeing' role in
ensuring that the results were a true reflection of the views of the
community.
 Mr Coggon in his statement regarding the PC meeting in September
2020 claims it was only at this point that the council began to look at
ways to make the application acceptable to local residents. This is
disingenuous as the council has from the initial representation by the
church had many discussions on the plans and sought views from the
community.

Page 12

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021









In Mr Coggon’s conclusion no.4 makes several comments regarding the
submission of the application. These are untrue and are again his
interpretation, not substantiated by other councillors or members of the
community.
In the conclusion point 8, his comments are without merit, as opposition
to a project on the grounds of developers profit are not a reason to
oppose it. Plus his views on the extent to which it benefits the village
are contradicted by the evidence of support shown by the survey and
the democratic decision of the council.
In conclusion, it has been clearly shown that the Parish Council has
been involved with the project from initial conception to the application
as it now stands. At all times we have been open to views both for and
against the proposal, encouraging dialogue between the community,
residents and applicants, where significant changes to the plans have
been made in response to issues identified.
The council has voted in support of this much needed community
project on two occasions.

6.2

Awbridge Parish Council (23.03.21) – Support;
 Awbridge Parish Council involvement in Church Lane development
executive summary/key dates.
 2005 – PC first alerted to need to enlarge graveyard at All Saints
Church.
 2013 – PC first shows support for enabling development solution.
 2016 – PC confirms support for enabling solution.
 2019;
 January – PC supports nursery site enabling development in principle.
 February – PC informed pre-application advice being sought.
 March – Planning proposal first discussed at Annual Parish Assembly.
 August – PC confirms support for Church led application and exhibition
detailing scheme.
 September – Public exhibition held at All Saints Church.
 October – December – Further discussion about proposed scheme held
at PC meetings.
 See appendices 1-3 for further information.

6.3

For members information the appendices referred to in the PC comments have
been reproduced in full at Appendix A of this report.

6.4

Representations received following notification in PC newsletter August
2021
 None

6.5

Representations received following amended plans (26.02.21)

6.6

12 Representations of Support;

Page 13

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

6.7

Use of the current nursery site
 Refute the suggestions made in representations that the site is not in
horticultural use.
 The Nurseries (Fromefield Nurseries Ltd) incorporated in 2000 has been
trading from the site since 1987.
 The 'Primary Nursery Site' as described, was sold in 2014 because the
business changed to predominantly 'Retail Distance Selling' rather than
'Wholesale' and therefore no longer required such a large plot.
 No attempt to mislead the LPA by stationing of vehicles on site.

6.8

Community Benefit & Need
 Parking and graveyard spaces remains sorely needed.
 Suggestions of alternative parking at the village hall are not practical.
 Extension of the church yard boundary will future-proof the burial the
next 20 - 30 years.
 The need for parking is likely to become even more of an issue when
the proposed refurbishment of the church takes place. The
refurbishment should enable many more communal activities to take
place.
 The church is a pivotal player in supporting the local community in
worship but also very much in helping young families and older
members of the community with regular activities.
 This is a once in a lifetime opportunity for the community.

6.9

Highways safety
 The car park will improve access to Church Lane for emergency
vehicles.

6.10

Role of the Parish Council & Community Involvement
 The PPC/developer has held a number of events informing and listening
to suggestions from the community, and I am pleased the Parish
Council has seen fit to support this application.
 The development proposal has been adjusted numerous times in terms
of the number of proposed dwellings, their position and orientation in
order to accommodate the views of those who live nearby.

6.11

Character & Appearance
 Amendments allow for re-positioning of the car park to the rear. The
landscaping has been added to, with more trees and natural areas
behind the housing.

6.12

23 Representations of Objection;

6.13

Use of the current nursery site
 Recent erection of signage intended to give the impression of a working
nursery and brownfield site.
 Historic paddock use of the land.
 Primary nursery business sold off in 2017
 Intention to mislead the planning authority that the site is previously
developed.

Page 14

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

6.14

Viability
 Surveyor’s report by BNP commissioned by residents of Church Lane
concludes that;
 The Applicant’s proposals exceed the minimum amount of development
required to enable the provision of a new Church car park and
graveyard extension.
 The proposals are excessive in scale relative to the community benefits
to be provided and a much more modest scheme with a smaller
footprint and land take could deliver the same benefits.
 The Applicant’s proposals appear to be driven more by their objective of
securing a larger profit rather than delivering housing that enables the
provision of community facilities.
 The scheme has been prepared and led by the developer rather than by
the community. As such does not comply with COM9.
 Largely agree that a development should proceed in order to fund the
provision of a small car park and a graveyard extension for the Church
but the size of the development is excessive.
 The Diocese should help to fund the Churches requirement - keeping
the Church away from Land Development & the ill will and negativity
this brings towards a dwindling congregation.

6.15

Role of the Parish Council & Community Involvement
 Lack of genuine community involvement.
 PC blocked discussion of alternative proposal.
 Bias in favour of the scheme
 Limited PC involvement in questionnaire
 Community involvement included persons outside of Awbridge and
targeted at members of the church.
 Inadequate community involvement prior to the application
 No suitable engagement with those residents most effected.
 Meetings between Church representatives and Church Lane residents
were on a ‘Without Prejudice’ basis and should not be cited as evidence
of engagement or approval of the proposals.

6.16

Community Benefit & Need
 A small group of villagers gain some minor benefits at a considerable
cost to many others, notably the inhabitants of Church Lane
 The proposals provide minimal benefit for maximum profit.
 There is no proven need for additional car parking and alternative
transport methods should be explored.
 No need for additional burial space.
 Car park size should not have been reduced
 Community garden should not have been removed.
 Approval of this application by TVBC will deprive us of the chance to
work together for true community benefit.
 A mixture of smaller more affordable dwellings is required.

Page 15

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

6.17

Character and Appearance
 Excessive scale would dominate the lane.
 Overdevelopment
 Changes to the scheme are minor.

6.18

Amenity
 Overlooking to neighbouring properties

6.19

Highways safety
 Increased traffic movements on Church Lane
 Impact on highways safety of Church Lane and Coombe Lane which are
limited width.

6.20

Representations received in response to original submission

6.21

67 representations of Support;

6.22

Community Benefit & Need
 Brilliant idea, though ideally, a larger number of smaller houses would
suit better the demographic profile.
 If this doesn't go ahead TVBC should provide a Traveller site there.
 Proposals will benefit the village.
 New burial ground and car park are much needed.
 The church is a social hub for the community.
 Provision of three houses is a small price to pay for the benefits.
 Additional housing is needed.
 Will support the school events.

6.23

Highways safety
 The car park will improve access to Church Lane for emergency
vehicles.
 Proposals will improve safety for walkers.
 Current parking provision restricts disabled access.
 Large events have previously relied on the generosity of adjacent land
owners for parking.
 Visitors have suffered injury due to lack of parking.

6.24

Role of the Parish Council & Community Involvement
 Believe the PCC has consulted with the village through meetings,
events and publications and has garnered the support of the parish
council.
 This has been well discussed, and explained over many months at
Parish Council Meetings, also a special meeting in the Church, which
was well publicised, and also at a Parish Council Meeting.

Page 16

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

6.25

Character & Appearance
 The proposals are sympathetic to Church Lane and the surroundings.
 Existing polytunnels are an eyesore.
 Reduction in number of houses to three has reduced impact.

6.26

47 representations of Objection

6.27

Community Benefit & Need
 The Village needs more smaller houses.
 Need for the graveyard extension has not been demonstrated.
 Need for the car park has not been demonstrated.
 Proposed car park is excessive in size.
 Community needs are met by the village hall.
 Parking provision can be accommodated at the village hall.
 Community garden is not needed.
 Land was previously gifted to the church but sold on.
 Will the church own the proposed car park & graveyard.

6.28

Highways safety
 Adverse impact on highways safety on narrow roads.
 On street parking is not a significant problem outside specific events.
 Increased traffic has led to the loss of pets.

6.29

Role of the Parish Council & Community Involvement
 Community and Parish Council engagement has excluded and/or
minimised view of residents of Church Lane and Coomb Lane.
 A revised scheme should be proposed.
 Question the validity of the questionnaire.
 Questionnaire demonstrates considerable opposition.
 Questionnaire should have been undertaken by the PC.
 The proposed housing is purely an enabling development to fund a new
church car park and graveyard.

6.30

Character & Appearance
 Houses are too large.
 Design of the houses is too uniform.
 Very large houses will overshadow the Church.
 Overdevelopment.
 Loss of green space.
 Out of character with Church Lane.
 Infill developments on Church Lane have historically been resisted.

6.31

Amenity
 Overlooking and loss of privacy.
 Fly tipping and antisocial behaviour resulting from the car park.
 Overbearing.
 Disruption from construction works.
 Noise impact from traffic and social activity at the new dwellings.

Page 17

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

6.32

Ecology & Biodiversity
 Impact on protected species at nursery site.
 Disappointed to see the absence of any recommendations for the
inclusion of bird boxes to enhance biodiversity in the Ecological
Assessment.
 Request that planning consent for the above‐mentioned development
includes a requirement for internal nest sites for Swifts.

7.0
7.1

POLICY
National Planning Policy Framework 2021

7.2

Test Valley Borough Local Plan 2016 - COM2 (Settlement Hierarchy), COM9
(Community Led Development), E1 (High Quality Development in the
Borough), E2 (Protect, Conserve and Enhance the Landscape Character of the
Borough), E5 (Biodiversity), E7 (Water Management), E8 (Pollution), E9
(Heritage), LHW1 (Public Open Space), LHW4 (Amenity), T1 (Managing
Movement), T2 (Parking Standard).

7.3

Awbridge Neighbourhood Plan
Awbridge Parish Council submitted an application for the designation of a
Neighbourhood Area covering the parish of Awbridge. This was subject to
public consultation running from 23rd March to 11th May 2018. The Council
has considered the application and the responses received during the
consultation and has approved the designation. The designation of a
Neighbourhood Area would enable a Neighbourhood Plan to be prepared for
the designated area. This consultation only considered whether a
Neighbourhood Area should be designated and upon its proposed boundary.

8.0

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main planning considerations are the principle of development, character
of the area and the setting of heritage assets, highways, amenity, flood risk,
ecology and biodiversity.

8.1

Principle of development
The site lies outside the settlement boundary identified for Awbridge, therefore
is within the countryside. On this basis, the proposal would need to satisfy
criterion a) or b). The proposal is promoted on the basis of policy COM9, which
is referred to in criterion a) of COM2.

8.2

Paragraph 5.113 of the Test Valley Borough Local Plan 2016 states that:
The Localism Act 2011 recognises that communities should have opportunities
to take responsibility for promoting residential development in order to help
support local services and facilities. These proposals should be led by the
parish council and could come forward through a neighbourhood plan or parish
plan. Exceptionally proposals can be led by interested parties provided that
they can demonstrate that there has been extensive parish council and
community involvement and the proposals are supported. The Council will
support proposals initiated by the community provided they are justified and
have local support.

Page 18

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.3

Policy COM9 provides the framework for considering development which will
meet community needs and help support facilities and states that community
led development will be permitted provided that:
a) the proposal is supported by evidence that there is a need for the
development to maintain or enhance the sustainability of the settlement
through the delivery of community benefit; and
b) it is demonstrated that the community has been involved in the preparation
of the proposal; and
c) it is demonstrated that the community supports the proposal; and
d) the proposal, if for residential development, helps meet the affordable
housing need of the parish in accordance with the thresholds contained
within policy COM7 and local evidence and restrictions contained within
policy COM8.

8.4

Need, Sustainability and Community Benefit
The Planning Statement submitted in support of the application sets out the
reasons for the need for the development as the lack of parking provision at
the church and the need to provide for more burial space.

8.5

With regard to the parking provision the church currently has no car park and it
is stated that larger events result in significant on street parking resulting in a
safety issue for pedestrian and vehicular users of Church Lane. The lack of
parking is also started to be restricting the options for wider use of the church
by the community. As a result the proposals put forward are for the provision of
a car park adjacent to the church.

8.6

Further details of the level of services and functions (pre Covid) at the church
have been provided and are summarised by the applicant as follows;
 Approximately 75 services per year. These vary in size of congregation
from 37 (the average Sunday morning service based on last year’s
returns) to over 200 people for some Festivals, Weddings and Funerals.
 The local school is now using the church for all their festival services,
plays etc. These have congregations/audiences of up to 225 people
regularly.
 The church is also used on a regular basis for midweek meetings, both
morning and evenings.
 The village lunch club meets fortnightly where many of the more elderly
villagers enjoy meeting others from the community.
 The church is currently in the process of reordering its accommodation
to provide a more useful space which will allow further and different use
by the community, such as a drop in coffee meeting place, space for
concerts and exhibitions. These activities will not conflict with the
current use of the village hall and will in fact add benefit to the village
community life.

Page 19

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.7

Whilst it is understood that the church was operating with a finite amount of
burial space the original submission did not include details of the current
provision and anticipated demand which has now been proved as follows;
 Burials over the last 5.5 years = 19
 Burials of ashes over the last 5 years = 9
 Burial spaces available = 21
 Faculty reservation of grave spaces = 10

8.8

The submitted information anticipates that the currently available spaces could
be taken up in two to five years. Whilst it is not possible to be certain of such
an estimate it is accepted that there is a finite supply of space and that it is
reasonable to anticipate continued demand for burials (inclusive of ashes) from
the village population. As a result at some point the available space will be
diminished and, based on the information available, the adjacent land made
available through the current application, has been the only solution to have
made significant progress. It is therefore not considered to be unreasonable for
the church to be seeking a long term solution to this issue.

8.9

Whilst it is clear from the submission the primary function of the proposed
dwellings is to enable the provision of the works at the church there is some
benefit associated with the economic investment associated with the
construction works and future economic and social benefit associated with the
future occupiers. However such benefits are clearly modest and the bulk of the
consideration of community benefit rests on the provision of the car park and
graveyard extension.

8.10

Representations have raised concern that the church does not constitute a
community facility, particularly in comparison to the village hall which benefits
form public funding and is more secular in nature. However it is considered
that the church represents a community facility beyond just Sunday services
and that the provision of the car park would facilitate the use of the facilities by
the wider community and limit the impact of larger functions and services on
the adjacent highways.

8.11

The provision of the graveyard extension would address a long standing space
issue and enable long term provision of burials in the village.

8.12

In addition there are some modest social and economic benefits from the
construction and occupation of the dwellings.

8.13

In this case it is accepted that the development would help sustain existing
community facilities and contribute significantly to the sustainability of the
community.

8.14

Community Involvement
The nature and extent of community involvement and the role of the Parish
Council has been the subject of many of the representations of objection. The
extent of what constitutes the community as it relates to this application has
also been queried.

Page 20

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.15

Parish Council Involvement
As is indicated in the Local Plan proposals should be “led by the parish council
and could come forward through a neighbourhood plan or parish plan.
Exceptionally proposals can be led by interested parties provided that they can
demonstrate that there has been extensive parish council and community
involvement and the proposals are supported.”

8.16

As is stated in para 7.3 the Awbridge neighbourhood plan has not progressed
passed the initial stages and as a result no public consultation beyond the
principle of a neighbourhood area and its boundary have been undertaken.
However it is noted that the neighbourhood plan application included the whole
of Awbridge Parish and noted that the parish functions as a single community.

8.17

Awbridge Parish Council have expressed support for the application as most
recently amended. Representations have raised concerns as to the procedure
that led to this decision. However it is not the purpose of this report to assess
the processes of the Parish Council who have clearly expressed their
democratic decision and provided a detailed timeline of their involvement in the
development of the scheme and its community consultation (Appendix A).

8.18

It is clear from the most recent PC comments in response to a representation
that they feel that their, and the communities, involvement has been
substantive. Specifically the comments conclude that “it has been clearly
shown that the Parish Council has been involved with the project from initial
conception to the application as it now stands. At all times we have been open
to views both for and against the proposal, encouraging dialogue between the
community, residents and applicants, where significant changes to the plans
have been made in response to issues identified.”

8.19

In this case it is clear that the Parish themselves believe that their involvement
has been extensive and have expressed support as is required by Policy
COM9.

8.20

Other community involvement
Outside of the community engagement through the Parish Councils
involvement it is apparent that other consultations, exhibitions and meetings
have been undertaken.

8.21

The application submission states that and public consultation event was held
at the Church (Sept 2019) to inform the public about the scheme.
Approximately 60 people are stated to have attended the event and 66
questionnaire responses returned. Some representations have raised concern
that the event was not properly advertised and that Church Lane residents
were not in attendance.

8.22

Subsequent public engagement was through the Parish Councils own
meetings (Nov 19 to June 20) and followed by the submission of the planning
application. The most notable change at this time was the reduction in the
number of proposed dwellings from four to three.

Page 21

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.23

Public access via the Parish Council meetings has continued throughout the
application but further attempts to arrange discussions between those
neighbour in the near vicinity of the site and the applicants were restricted.
Various attempts to agree a mediated meeting were unsuccessful but
meetings were eventually held in January and February of 2021 mediated by a
member of the Parish Council.

8.24

Test Valley Council were not party to those discussions and so an assessment
of their content is limited to the public representations available and the
covering letter from the applicant’s agent which accompanied amended plans
submitted at the end of February 2021. That the meetings were not open to the
public and restricted to three representatives of Church Lane residents limits
their significance as a community engagement exercise in relation to COM9.
However it is clear that those discussions, and subsequent discussion of the
proposed changes with TVBC Officers, did result in amendments to the
scheme.

8.25

It was this amended scheme that was the subject of the Parish Council
comments and referenced in the notification to Awbridge residents via the local
newsletter that produced no further representations.

8.26

In this case it is considered that the Parish Council and Community has been
extensively involved in the evolution and development of the scheme as is
required by Policy COM9.

8.27

Community Support
The originally submitted scheme was subject to a survey of all Awbridge parish
households via a local newsletter. In summary 558 questionnaires were
delivered and 199 responses were received (response rate of 35.7%). 291
(72.9%) persons were recorded as supporting the scheme and 108 (27.1%) as
being against. Representations have raised concerns with regard to the format
of the survey and that the Parish Council did not take a more direct
involvement. In addressing that point the Parish Council have commented that
they agreed a supervisory role with the applicants and that responses were
opened under that supervision. This process is stated to have resulted in 5
responses being discounted as a result of being form outside of Awbridge
Parish.

8.28

Notwithstanding the submitted concerns the survey remains the most
comprehensive account of the views of Awbridge Parish available. As is
summarised above there have also been a significant number of direct
representations to the planning application. These are generally more evenly
distributed.

8.29

Some representations have sought to apply a narrower definition of community
or to attach more weight to the comments those living in proximity to the
proposals. However relevance of the facilities at the church and those
proposed by the application go beyond the immediate vicinity and the
community in this instance is considered to be reasonably defined as the
Parish of Awbridge.

Page 22

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.30

In addition some representations have expressed broad support for
development that enables the provision of the car park and graveyard
extension but have raised objections to this specific scheme mostly with regard
to the quantum of development.

8.31

When considered in conjunction with the Parish Council support, who are the
community representatives of the parish, on balance it is accepted that there is
a clear demonstration of support from the community for the application, in
compliance with Policy COM09(c).

8.32

Affordable Housing
Awbridge is classed as an undesignated area and therefore, under Policy
COM7 applies. Policy COM7 states that the Council will negotiate on housing
sites of 11-14 dwellings (or sites of 0.34 – 0.49ha) for up to 30% of dwellings to
be affordable. Therefore based upon the number of proposed dwellings (3), the
trigger for Affordable Housing has not been met, and therefore no provision of
Affordable Housing will be required. However, the site size of land measures
1.0ha, and this does fall within the above parameters. The above area of land
is broadly equivalent to the size of site (excluding constraints) reasonably
expected to deliver the number of dwellings in that step of the sliding scale,
assuming an average density of development. The purpose of the equivalent
site area threshold is to avoid any applicant being able to deliberately reduce
the number of dwellings below a threshold purely in order to reduce the
amount of affordable housing able to be sought, when in planning terms a
higher number of dwellings could be appropriately accommodated.

8.33

In this case approximately a third of the site is required for the provision of the
community facilities and ecological mitigation. In addition the proximity to the
heritage asset and the character of the lane, combined with the community led
aspect of the scheme, have reduced the developable area. In this case it is not
considered that there has been any deliberate effort to artificially reduce the
number of dwellings below the threshold. As a result the number of dwellings
falls below the trigger and the developable area falls below the area threshold
and the provision of Affordable is not triggered. In this respect the proposal
does not include any affordable housing, which is in accordance with Policy
COM09(d).

8.34

Conclusion in relation to Policy COM9
For the reasons set out above the proposed development is considered to
comply with the requirements of Policy COM9 and is acceptable in principle.
However other issues relevant to the principle of development have been
raised and are considered in more detail below.

8.35

Viability & Alternative Schemes
Policy COM9 has no viability component. That is to say that the applicant does
not need to show the proposal is viable, or not. In addition, there is no
requirement for the applicant to only propose a minimal amount of
development that would generate sufficient funds to enable the community
benefit. The application is, nevertheless, supported by details of viability
however the purpose of that information is limited to providing publicly

Page 23

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

available evidence of the cost associated with the provision of the community
benefit. These details have been publicly available throughout the application
process for assessment by members of the public in determining their support
or otherwise for the proposals.
8.36

A group of Church Lane residents have commissioned a viability assessment
which is stated to show that a reduced quantum of development is required to
provide the community facilities. It is stated that an alternative scheme on that
basis has been put forward by the owners of a neighbouring property. The two
viability appraisals are similar in most regards other than the value assigned to
the existing nursery site.

8.37

However there is no evidence to suggest that an alternative scheme based on
a reduced number of dwellings has been agreed with the applicants or land
owner. In this instance the current landowner has made representation
expressly stating that they would not be willing to facilitate the proposals. In
any event no such alterative planning application exists and the current
application must be determined on its own merits. The recommendation has
had no regard to the various viability appraisals produced by parties given that
Policy COM09 does not require such a consideration. They are irrelevant to
this particular proposal.

8.38

Loss of the nursery site

8.39

The existing horticultural site does not appear to benefit from any specific
planning permission for its structures and activities. This is likely as a result of
the land being used in horticultural use which falls within the legal definition of
what comprises “agriculture” under the Planning Acts (Section 55). Alternating
between agricultural and horticultural uses does not represent development for
the purposes of the Planning Act. It is apparent that the horticultural activities
have reduced on site in recent years. Policy COM9 is essentially silent on the
existing use of an application site. That the proposals would result in the loss
of the nursery is clear and has not resulted in any representations seeking its
retention and as a result there is considered to be no conflict with Policy
COM9.

8.40

Housing Land Supply
Section 5 of the NPPF relates to housing. Paragraph 73 of the NPPF requires
the Council to demonstrate a minimum of 5 years housing land supply (HLS)
with a 5% buffer. An assessment of the HLS position as at 30 November 2020
has been undertaken. This uses the housing requirement established in policy
COM1 and has regard to the conclusions of the Inspector’s Report on the
Examination of the Local Plan. The HLS position for Northern Test Valley, as
at 1 April 2020 is 6.27 years of supply. This is reported against a target of 5.00
years. The existence of a five year HLS enables the Council to give weight to
the policies of the adopted plan (in the context of footnote 7). The
demonstration of a five year HLS does not in itself cap development and any
application must be assessed on its merits.

Page 24

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.41

Character and Appearance
Currently the site has a treed boundary along Church Lane but views over the
horticultural site and associated polytunnels are readily available from the
access, albeit predominantly obscured from longer views. Church Lane is
characterised by detached properties of a wide variety of designs and
materials set in generally large to very large plots. Boundaries are generally
well planted.

8.42

Setting of the Heritage Assets
The Church of All Saints is listed at Grade II, and was built in 1876 from
squared rubble Swanage stone and Bath stone, which is unusual for this area.
It has a long tiled roof and a spired bell tower. The church is on land which
used to belong to the Awbridge Danes estate, and it was designed by J.
Colson. As is noted in the heritage statement he was a Victorian architect,
based in Winchester, whose work was principally churches and other
associated buildings. Awbridge Danes house is listed at Grade II* at is at some
distance from the church to the south-west and its listed park (GII) extends up
to the boundary of the churchyard and the proposed development site.

8.43

The church is on a corner in the lane with its historic vicarage set further down
the road to the south-east. There has been some modern development along
the lane, notably the houses to the south of the church, and to the north-west,
which have altered its setting to an extent. The land subject to this application,
though, seems largely the same as shown in maps from around the time the
church was built (in as much as it is not formally developed, and gives a sense
of openness around the church).

8.44

The Conservation Officer raised some initial concern with regard to the impact
of the car park, specifically due to its location forward of the church and the
formality of the originally proposed layout. Whilst no objection was raised
initially to the graveyard extension the Conservation Officer has expressed
support for the revised scheme. The relocation of the carpark to the rear, and
the siting of the graveyard extension at the front of the site are considered
significant improvements. Graveyards are a typical feature in the setting of
historic churches, and therefore it will conserve and enhance the setting of the
church. The open, green, nature of the graveyard should also allow a better
appreciation of the church from the corner than the carpark would have done,
and create a buffer between the church and the new dwellings.

8.45

The three proposed dwellings each have an individual design (all working
generally from the ‘Arts and Crafts’ genre) which prevents the development
looking too uniform. To create further diversity, the Conservation Officer has
suggested a subtly different palette of materials could be used for each house
and a condition requiring the approval of materials has been applied.

8.46

The revised design is considered to be preferable in the historic setting and will
better reveal the significance of the heritage assets. Subject to control over
materials the proposals are considered to have no adverse impact on the
setting of heritage assets and comply with Policy E9.

Page 25

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.47

Landscape & Arboriculture
The Landscape Officer has echoed the comments of the Conservation Officer
that the revised design including the reduced scale and revised layout of the
car park and graveyard extension is a significant improvement. The removal of
the community garden also provides the properties with more appropriately
sized gardens, more in character with that of the neighbouring properties.

8.48

The Landscape Officer has however commented that the proposals include the
retention of non-native species in the frontage planting and has advocated
their removal. The Officer has also noted the lack of lighting in the car park
which is encouraged. It is recommended that full details of landscape planting
and any proposed lighting be secured by condition. Subject to the required
conditions the proposals are considered to have no adverse impact on the
landscape character of the site and comply with Policy E2.

8.49

Whilst no trees on site are subject to preservation orders the existing planting
contributes to the character of the area and its retention where possible is
preferable. The application is supported by an appropriate arboricultural
method statement but an update reflecting the change to the church car park
location will be required and is secured by condition.

8.50

Subject to the required conditions the proposals are considered to have no
adverse impact on the landscape character of the site and comply with Policy
E2.

8.51

Highways
Representations have been submitted both in support and objection on
highways matters. The support relates primarily to the provision of the car park
to avoid on-street parking, in particular in relation to larger events at the
church. The representations of objection have raised concern that the existing
on-street parking is not significant and that the provision of the car park and
three new dwellings would be detrimental to highways safety in the locality.

8.52

The Highways Officer has advised that the combined impact of the residential
development and the church car park raises no significant concerns. The
volume of traffic associated with three residential dwellings would not be
considered to be at a material detrimental level of impact to the safety and
efficiency of Church Lane or the wider highway network.

8.53

The Highways Officer has further advised that the proposed car park would
likely provide a net benefit to the existing situation of vehicle parking on the
highway in Church Lane. The Highways Officer also accepted that the
Church’s plans to diversify will likely result in an increase in ad-hoc events,
however the introduction of newly created off-street parking will likely result in
minimal impact during any peak hours.

Page 26

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.54

Vehicular visibility at the proposed Church access falls marginally below
standards in the primary direction at 39m. Given the nature of Church Lane,
this marginal decrease in standards has been assessed and is considered to
be acceptable given the likely 85th percentile wet weather speeds in the
location. The use of a 2m “X” distance is also considered acceptable given the
characteristics of Church Lane and the similarity to visibility levels for most
other access points in the vicinity.

8.55

The proposed parking arrangement would meet the required standard and,
subject to further conditions requiring the retention of parking, visibility splays
and restricting the location of any gates, the proposed scheme is considered to
have no significant detrimental impact on highways or pedestrian safety and
accords with the relevant T policies of the TVBRLP 2016.

8.56

Residential Amenities
There are two elements to the consideration of amenity. Firstly is the amenity
of the future residents of the development site and secondly the impact of the
proposal upon the amenity of existing neighbouring properties.

8.57

Impact on existing dwellings
The nearest neighbouring property is Winchurch which is situated
approximately 20m form the westernmost dwelling at the nearest point.
However this is a side to side relationship with some significant screening
between the properties. As a result it is not considered that the development
would result in any significant overbearing or overlooking impact.

8.58

Representations have raised concern with regard to overlooking impact to
neighbouring properties on the northern side of Church Lane. However the
nearest dwelling (Coombe End) is situated approximately 45m from the
nearest of the proposed dwellings and as a result the proposals are not
considered to result in any significant overlooking impact.

8.59

The revised location of the car park has moved it closer to the neighbouring
property of Amberwell to the southeast. However a separation distance of
approximately 44m is retained to the rear elevation of the neighbouring
property. Whilst regular use of the car park must be anticipated it is not
considered likely to result in larger vehicle movements or a level of disturbance
likely to have an impact on amenity by way of noise.

8.60

Impact on proposed dwellings
The layout for the provision the 3 dwellings provides for adequate private
amenity space and avoid significant impacts on amenity by virtue of
overlooking, overshadowing and overbearing.

8.61

The easternmost plot is situated approximately 5m from the access track the
church car park at the nearest point. However, as is considered above, it is not
considered likely to result in a level of noise disturbance likely to have an
impact on amenity.

Page 27

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.62

Impact during construction works
Representations have raised concern with regard to the impact of noise, mud
and dust during construction works. Whilst some degree of disturbance is
inevitable during construction work conditions can be applied to limit the hours
of construction and to require an environmental management plan to limit
amenity impacts. Subject to the required conditions the proposed development
is considered to have no significant adverse impact on amenity and complies
with TVBRLP Policies LHW4 and E8.

8.63

Drainage and Flood Risk
The application is supported by a Drainage Strategy and Flood Risk
Statement. The reports detail the proposed surface water drainage and
conclude that, in accordance with the SuDS principles that the development
would not result in additional runoff. Subject to a condition to ensure
compliance with the submitted details the proposed development is not
considered to result in adverse flood risk and complies with TVBRLP Policy
E7.

8.64

Water management
The 2016 Local Plan includes a requirement in policy E7 to achieve a water
consumption standard of no more than 100 litres per person today. This
reflects the requirements of part G2 of the 2015 Building Regulations. In the
event that planning permission was to be recommended a condition would be
applied in order to address this. Subject to such a condition the proposal would
comply with policy E7.

8.65

Biodiversity & Protected Species
Following initial concern raised by the Ecology Officer the application has been
supported by revised and additional ecological survey work and biodiversity
enhancement measures.

8.66

New Forest SPA
The development will result in a net increase in residential dwellings within
13.6km of the New Forest SPA. This distance defines the zone identified by
recent research where new residents would be considered likely to visit the
New Forest. The New Forest SPA supports a range of bird species that are
vulnerable to impacts arising from increases in recreational use of the Forest
that result from new housing development. While clearly one new house on its
own would not result in any significant effects, it has been demonstrated
through research, and agreed by Natural England that any net increase (even
single or small numbers of dwellings) would have a likely significant effect on
the SPA when considered in combination with other plans and projects.

8.67

To address this issue, Test Valley Borough Council has adopted a strategy
whereby a scale of developer contributions has been agreed that would fund
the delivery of measures to address these issues. With respect to the New
Forest, a new strategic area of alternative recreational open space is being
delivered that would offer the same sort of recreational opportunities as those
offered by the New Forest. Subject to the required financial contribution the
proposals would not have a significant adverse impact on the SPA.

Page 28

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.68

Solent and Southampton Water SPA – Solent Neutrality
There is existing evidence of high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus in the
water environment across the Solent, with evidence of eutrophication at some
designated sites. An Integrated Water Management Study for South
Hampshire was commissioned by the Partnership for Urban South Hampshire
(PUSH) Authorities to examine the delivery of development growth in relation
to legislative and government policy requirements for designated sites and
wider biodiversity. This work has identified that there is uncertainty regarding
whether any new housing development does not contribute to net increases in
nutrients entering these designated sites.

8.69

As such, the advice from Natural England is that the applicants for
development proposals resulting in a net increase in dwellings are required to
submit the nitrogen budget for the development to demonstrate no likely
significant effect on the European designated sites due to the increase in
waste water from the new housing.

8.70

The applicant has submitted information that quantifies the nutrient budget for
the proposal .In this case, as a result of the relatively high nitrate input
resulting from horticultural uses, the proposals would result in a reduction in
total nitrates (-4.6 KG/N/Yr). Therefore this development would not have a
likely significant effect on the designated Solent sites.

8.71

Great Crested Newts
Due to the lack of local records (within 1km) and small area of terrestrial
habitat on site (majority of the site considered unsuitable), GCN are not
considered likely to be present on site and impacted by the proposed
development. Precautionary mitigation measures within the construction and
occupational stage of the development have been outlined as a precautionary
measure in the absence of any formal assessment.

8.72

The Ecology Officer has advised that, given the limited amount of suitable
terrestrial habitat on site, and the lack of local records for the species, provided
the proposed mitigation measures are implemented that a breech under the
Habitats Regulations is considered unlikely. The precautionary measures
detailed in the submitted ecological information are to be secured by condition.

8.73

Reptiles
A low population of slow worms and grass snakes were recorded on site within
updated reptile surveys. 0.16ha of suitable habitat appears to currently be
present on site, with approximately 0.158ha reptile receptor site being created
as part of the proposed scheme, with two hibernacula being created. Mitigation
measures and method statement for the relocation of reptiles has been
proposed which the Ecology Officer has supported and are secured by
condition. The reptile receptor site will need to be established prior to the
commencement of the translocation programme.

Page 29

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.74

Bats
In addition to securing suitable mitigation measures detailed within the
ecological appraisal the Ecology Officer has also advised that details of any
lighting are secured by condition.

8.75

SINC
The proposed development is adjacent to All Saints, Awbridge SINC (Site of
Importance for Nature Conservation) which is a locally designated site,
protected due to the presence of the rare Maidenhair Fern, and therefore is
protected from the impacts of development under the National Planning Policy
Framework and Policy E5 of the Revised Test Valley Local Plan DPD. As such
any impact on such sites are a material planning consideration within the
planning process, and any potential impacts should be appropriately mitigated.

8.76

Due to the presence of this species on site, the site is vulnerable to the
impacts of the construction as well as the occupational phase of any
development. Therefore the Ecology Officer has advised that, to prevent
ongoing dust pollution from the proposed car park, washed gravel and plastic
retaining matrix should be used within the proposed scheme. This is secured
by condition.

8.77

Subject to the required conditions the development is considered to have no
adverse impact on protected species and complies with Policy E5.

8.78

Planning balance
The application site remains in the countryside area as defined by the local
plan. However, as detailed above, the proposals are considered to comply with
the requirements of Policy COM9 and are therefore acceptable in principle.
Paragraph of the TVBRLP is clear that the Council will support proposals
initiated by the community provided they are justified and have local support.

8.79

Beyond the considerations of COM9 the proposals have been amended and
supported by additional information and it is concluded that the site is
appropriate for the development, in planning and delivery terms, and
consideration has been given to all reasonable options.

8.80

Social Benefits
In terms of social benefits the proposal would provide for community benefit by
the provision of the church car park and extension to the graveyard. There is
also a modest social benefit in the provision of additional housing, albeit not
affordable.

8.81

Economic Benefits
In line with residential development of this scale there would be economic
benefits from the proposed development through employment and additional
spending power resulting from the construction phase and from future
occupiers of the proposed development. The economic benefits of the car park
are harder to quantify and so only limited weight is afforded to this particular
point in the planning balance leading to a recommendation to grant planning
permission.

Page 30

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.82

The proposal is acceptable in principle and is considered to have no significant
adverse effect on the character and appearance of the application site,
amenities of neighbouring properties, highways safety or protected species.
The proposal therefore complies with the relevant policies of the TVBRLP 2016
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

9.0
9.1

CONCLUSION
The proposed development complies with Policy COM9 and is acceptable in
principle. Potential concerns with regard to the impact protected species and
biodiversity have been resolved. Subject to securing the required conditions
and s106 obligations the proposed development is considered acceptable.

10.0 RECOMMENDATION
10.1 Delegate to Head of Planning & Building for completion of satisfactory
consultation with Natural England and s106 legal agreement to secure;
 New Forest SPA contribution.
 Future management of landscaped and biodiversity enhancement
areas outside of residential garden areas.
 Delivery and transfer of the church car park and graveyard
extension.
Then PERMISSION subject to:
1.
The development hereby permitted shall be begun within three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 91 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2.
No development shall take place above DPC level of the
development hereby permitted until samples and details of the
materials to be used in the construction of all external surfaces
hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the development has a satisfactory external
appearance in the interest of visual amenities in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1.
3.
Notwithstanding the submitted details no development shall take
place (including site clearance and any other preparatory works)
until a revised scheme for the protection of trees to be retained,
reflecting the change to the church car park location, has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Such a scheme shall include a plan showing the location
and specification of tree protective barriers. Such barriers shall be
erected prior to any other site operations and at least three working
days’ notice shall be given to the Local Planning Authority that it
has been erected.
Note: The protective barriers shall be as specified at Chapter 6.2 and
detailed in figure 2 of B.S.5837:2012 unless otherwise agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Page 31

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

4.

5.

6.

7.

Reason: To ensure the enhancement of the development by the
retention of existing trees and natural features during the
construction phase in accordance with Test Valley Borough Revised
Local Plan policy E2 (2016).
Tree protective measures installed (in accordance with the tree
protection condition 3) shall be maintained and retained for the full
duration of works or until such time as agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority. No activities, nor material storage, nor
placement of site huts or other equipment what-so-ever shall take
place within the barrier.
Reason: To ensure the avoidance of damage to existing trees and
natural features during the construction phase in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan policy E2.
All service routes, drain runs, soakaways or excavations in
connection with the development hereby permitted shall remain
wholly outside the tree protective barrier.
Reason: To ensure the avoidance of damage to existing trees and
natural features during the construction phase in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan policy E2.
No development shall take place above DPC level until full details of
hard and soft landscape works have been submitted and approved.
Details shall include-where appropriate: proposed finished levels or
contours; means of enclosure; car parking layouts; other vehicle
and pedestrian access and circulation areas; hard surfacing
materials. Soft landscape works shall include: planting plans;
written specifications (including cultivation and other operations
associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules of
plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities.
The soft landscape proposals shall include details of soft boundary
treatments to the outside edges of the site. Notwithstanding the
submitted information suitable soft landscape proposals should be
native species chosen to provide screening whilst retaining an
informal character in the rural area. The landscape works shall be
carried out in accordance with the implementation programme and
in accordance with the management plan. To prevent ongoing dust
pollution from the proposed car park, washed gravel and plastic
retaining matrix shall be used within the proposed church car park
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To improve the appearance of the site and enhance the
character of the development in the interest of visual amenity and
contribute to the character of the local area in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1 and E2.
The development of the dwellings shall not be occupied until space
has been laid out and provided for the parking and manoeuvring of
vehicles to enable them to enter and leave the site in a forward gear
in accordance with the approved plan and this space shall thereafter
be reserved for such purposes at all times.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy T1.

Page 32

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.

Details of any external lighting shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority prior to first installing any
such lighting before the building(s) is/are occupied. External lighting
will follow best practice guidelines outlined by the Bat Conservation
Trust and the Institute of Lighting Professionals (Guidance note 08/18
Bats and artificial lighting in the UK). Development shall be carried
out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the area and in the interests
of protected species in accordance with Test Valley Borough Revised
Local Plan (2016) Policies E5 and E8.
9.
The dwellings hereby approved shall be designed and built to meet
Regulation 36 2 (b) requirement of 110 litres/person/day water
efficiency set out in part G2 of Building Regulations 2015.
Reason: In the interests of improving water usage efficiency in
accordance with policy E7 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local
Plan 2016.
10. There shall be no construction or demolition works, no machinery
shall be operated, no processes carried out and no deliveries
received or dispatched outside the following times: 07:30 to 18:00
hours Monday to Friday and 08:00 to 13:00 hours on Saturday. In
addition, no such activities shall take place on Sundays, Bank or
Public holidays.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of neighbouring properties
in accordance with Test Valley Borough Local Plan policies E8 and
LWH4.
11. In the event that contamination is found at any time during demolition
and/or construction works, the presence of such contamination shall
be reported in writing to the Local Planning Authority without delay
and development shall be suspended on the affected part of the site
until a remediation scheme for dealing with that contamination has
been approved by the Local Planning Authority. The approved
remediation scheme shall be implemented and, if requested, a
verification report, for the purpose of certifying adherence to the
approved remediation scheme, shall be submitted to the Local
Planning Authority prior to the site being brought in to use.
Reason: To ensure a safe living/working environment in accordance
with Test Valley Borough Local Plan 2016 policy E8.
12. No development shall take place unless or until a Construction
Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by,
the Local Planning Authority. The Construction Management Plan
shall cover the control of noise, dust and spoil during the demolition,
site preparation and construction phases of development. The
Construction Environmental Management Plan shall include the
provision of wheel washing, and any other suitable facility, to avoid
the deposit of spoil onto the highway network. Work shall be
undertaken in accordance with the approved Environmental
Management Plan.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of neighbouring properties
in accordance with Test Valley Borough Local Plan policies E8, T1
and LWH4.

Page 33

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

13. Prior to the commencement of development full details of the layout
for the parking and manoeuvring onsite of contractor's and delivery
vehicles during the construction period shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved
scheme shall be implemented prior to the commencement of
development and retained for the duration of the construction period.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Local Plan 2016 policy T1.
14. The development shall not be brought into use until vehicular
visibility splays as indicated on the approved plans in which there
should be no obstruction to visibility exceeding 1.0m in height above
the adjacent carriageway channel line have been completed. Such
visibility splays shall thereafter be retained for the lifetime of the
development.
Reason: To provide and maintain adequate visibility in the interests
of highway safety in accordance with Test Valley Borough Local Plan
2016 policy T1.
15. The drainage system shall be constructed in accordance with the
Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy; ref:
115.5003/FRA&DS/1. Surface water discharge to the watercourse
shall be limited to 2.0 l/s. Any changes to the approved
documentation must be submitted to and approved in writing by
Local Planning Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority. Any
revised details submitted for approval must include a technical
summary highlighting any changes, updated detailed drainage
drawings and detailed drainage calculations. Details for the long-term
maintenance arrangements for the surface water drainage system
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings. The
submitted details shall include;
a. Maintenance schedules for each drainage feature type and
ownership.
b. Details of protection measures.
Maintenance and protection measures shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and in the
interest of local amenities in accordance with Test Valley Borough
Revised Local Plan 2016 policy E7.
16. Development shall proceed in accordance with the measures set out
in Section 6.0 'Recommendations' of the Land off Church Lane,
Awbridge, Ecological Assessment (Ecosupport, 31 March 2021).
Thereafter, all mitigation and enhancement features shall be
permanently maintained and retained in accordance with the
approved details. Prior to commencement, a detailed planting plan
and ongoing management strategy for the site shall be submitted to
the Local Planning Authority for written approval. Development shall
proceed in accordance with the approved details, with photographic
evidence of these measures submitted to the LPA within 6 months of
occupation.

Page 34

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Reason: To ensure the favourable conservation status of protected
species and enhance biodiversity in accordance with Policy E5 of the
Test Valley Revised Local Plan DPD.
17. Prior to commencement a Construction Environmental Management
Plan (CEMP) and method statement, incorporating measures to avoid
impacts on the designated sites, habitats and species during the
construction phase of the development shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This should
include:
a) Biosecurity measures
b) Arrangements for the routing of machinery on site
c) Pollution prevention measures, e.g. dust and run-off
d) Mitigation for protected species, such as avoidance and
protection of suitable habitat
e) Storage of materials
f) Minimising noise and vibration
g) Ecological supervision of works
h) Lighting
Development shall subsequently proceed in accordance with any
such approved details.
Reason: To protect designated sites, habitats and species in
accordance with Policy E5 of the Revised Test Valley Local Plan DPD.
18. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in
complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans,
numbers
D-100
D-111 E
D-112 A
D-114 B
D-210 B
D-220 B
D-230 B
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.
Notes to applicant:
1.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and
completed strictly in accordance with the submitted plans,
specifications and written particulars for which permission is hereby
granted or which are subsequently submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the Local Planning Authority and in compliance with any
conditions imposed by the Local Planning Authority.
2.
In reaching this decision Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) has
had regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and takes a
positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused
on solutions. TVBC work with applicants and their agents in a
positive and proactive manner offering a pre-application advice
service and updating applicants/agents of issues that may arise in
dealing with the application and where possible suggesting
solutions.

Page 35

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Belmont

Merritrees
Bay Tree
Cottage

Olivefield

Coombe End
CHURCH LANE

LB

70.1m

UPPER RATLEY

Winchurch

Pond
All Saints' Church

Sinks

Amberwell

Pond

N

Siteplan

REPRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING
WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF
HER MAJESTY’S STATIONERY OFFICER © CROWN COPYRIGHT.
UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT
AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.
TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL LICENCE No. 100024295 2013

20/01448/FULLS
Page 36

Page 37

10

Scale -1:500

0

1 : 500

20

Site Plan as Proposed

Winchurch

Landscape
buffer zone

30

40

1

Stone
setts

Gravel

50m

CHURCH LANE

N

2

Stone
setts

Gravel

Olivefield

Gravel

3

Stone
setts

Graveyard
extension

Access to
church

New
trees

Church car park extension
(27 spaces)

Cell
contained
gravel

Stone
setts

Coombe End

Amberwell

All Saints Church

Site Plan as Proposed
drawing

This drawing is copyright of Crafted Architects Ltd.

All Saints Church

Church Parking & Associated
Development
Church Lane
Awbridge
client

project

rev.

E

1722
job

D-111

1 : 500 @A2
scale

dwg

Sept 2020
date

Sept 20
Sept 20
Feb 21

Date
Jun 20
Sept 20

01794 400311 jules@craftedarchitects.co.uk
Rev.
Description
A
Hedge line revised
B
Five bar and pedestrian gate added to car park entrance, stone setts extended; encapsulated
gravel noted
C
Landscaping design revised
D
Houses and gardens repositioned to suit sole use of existing access off Church Lane
E
Car park layout revised; community garden omitted

410 The Grange, Romsey Road, Michelmersh, Romsey, SO51 0AE

Garages each @ 387.5ft2 (GIA)

3no. 5 bed houses
House 1 - 3,098ft2 (GIA)
Houses 2 & 3 - 3,159ft2 (GIA)

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 38

1 : 500

Existing Nursery Land

10

Scale -1:500

0

20

30

EXISTING NURSERY:
5,733m2

40

50m

N

Description

Existing Nursery Plan
drawing

This drawing is copyright of Crafted Architects Ltd.

All Saints Church

Church Parking & Associated
Development
Church Lane
Awbridge
client

project

Rev.

410 The Grange, Romsey Road, Michelmersh, Romsey, SO51 0AE

rev.

1722
job

D-116

1 : 500 @A3
scale

dwg

Nov 2020
date

Date

01794 400311 jules@craftedarchitects.co.uk

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

72.18

ridge
71.85

ridge
71.91

66.56

Page 39

64.78

64.87

65.21

65.91

64.60

60.18

58.77

59.13 2.10h pwf

60.12

Sta

60.07

62.610
62.23

62.41

62.30

62.58

62.73

63.11

63.09

63.25

59.93

mb

64.77

62.82

60.62

61.63
mb
61.30

62.44

61.87

62.57

grass

61.55

64.76

63.32

2.10h pwf

61.68

62.81

63.69

62.55

swamp cypress
63.18

63.39

63.59

64.25

64.82

bushes

66.08

65.00

64.69

63.54

64.48

64.83

64.81

64.27

63.26

64.11

grass

62.88

62.43

63.12

63.49

61.03

63.586

Sta

63.66

64.04
bushes

64.74

64.97

65.26

FFL: 66.950

68.53

stumps
68.65

62.71

63.45

64.32

beech
61.42

beech
60.95

grass

64.43

beech
60.95

61.51

62.95

61.74
2.10h pwf

tree top
85.28

64.141

Sta

tap
67.86

68.58

1.90h cbf

69.04

68.86

grass

tree top
88.45

beech

63.06

63.33

64.60

65.56

63.12

ibt
65.25

65.40

66.28

2.10h pwf
beech
63.05

63.31

65.31

po
68.26

po

gate

68.81

tap
67.59

beech
64.46

64.16

tree top
89.08

64.06

66.79

68.11

grass

kb

67.41

66.38

1.80h pwf

1.80h pwf

kb

67.69

67.85

69.17

grass

kb

kb

65.81
kb

69.03

66.47
tap
66.35

67.27

68.13

beech
66.04

kb

66.91

kb

kb

kb

oak
66.80

kb

66.61

67.41

68.20

68.54

68.49

69.76

69.87

btic
69.86

69.86

67.22
tap
67.04

68.03

68.68

kb

kb

kb

68.90

kb

kb

68.48

tap
67.52

kb

67.74
kb

yew

Sta

69.17

kb

kb
68.72

68.83
68.81

mesh
cage

68.18
s.birch
68.09

68.76

68.83

68.83

shed

tap
69.08

oak
68.80

tree top
68.79
92.32

70.36

68.57

68.73

kb

69.84

polytunnel

68.87

kb

68.40
tap
68.35

69.07

69.07

69.57

Sta

70.00
tap
69.89

69.93

68.73

water
tank

68.84
68.85

73.25 ep

ash
mb
70.32

70.45

70.40

69.05

beech
69.52

beech

tree top
87.08

beech
70.31

68.89

1.80h pwf

68.94

shed

69.22

69.30

tree top
82.90

69.86

69.95

1.80h pwf

tree top
87.73

69.83

beech
70.10

70.15
71.69

shed

slabs

70.27 70.33

70.31

70.01

conc

70.11

70.19

70.18

conc

70.40
gravel

70.36

area obstructed*

1.80h pwf

container

70.58

tp
70.70

70.65

70.92

70.31

70.69

70.45
conc

69.88

70.07

69.918
conc

69.93

69.69

69.86
69.71

69.74

slabs

70.04

70.26

shed

slabs

70.22

area obstructed*

70.36

70.40

70.50

conc

70.600

ic

Sta

70.61

70.30

70.53

70.45

70.50

70.57

eucalyptus

70.37

gravel
70.43

poly tunnel

Sta kb
68.165
68.18
68.12
wsc
kb
tap
69.13
67.94
68.11

68.61

kb

70.21

mb
70.28
sycamore
mb
70.58

70.25

69.43
69.485
69.50 69.58

68.95

69.50

69.52

69.88

70.27

70.31

70.296

Sta

1.80h pwf

70.11

70.19

70.19

70.13

poly tunnel

70.17

68.74

67.69

67.67 67.74

68.31

68.82

kb

69.18

69.29

69.42

70.04

1.80h pwf

beech
67.24

67.32

67.29
kb

67.93

68.66

68.94

67.35

kb

kb

68.89

gravel

69.23

poly tunnel

69.87

70.09

70.08

tree top
81.29

70.06

69.98
1.80h pwf

69.92

69.98

69.08 69.11

69.82

ep
69.88

poly tunnel

68.89

tp
69.82

69.58

69.76

69.83

68.69

66.28

66.09

66.74

kb

poly tunnel

67.48

1.80h pwf

66.61

kb

kb

kb

69.75

69.75

69.67

68.20

68.23

67.45

66.57

65.27
mb
h. chestnut

66.15

67.42

tap
67.94

68.044
kb

69.54

69.24

shed

69.48

Sta

69.21

68.45

FFL: 68.500

67.94

po
68.62
po
68.49

67.21
gate 1.80h pwf

gravel

68.91

69.23

1.80h pwf

69.49
tree top
79.44

bk setts
69.53

69.36

69.46

69.41

tap
68.58
68.75
1.8h pwf

68.58

68.67

gravel

69.01

69.33

69.39

67.48 gate 67.57

67.24

67.42

1.80h pwf

tap
67.01

1.80h pwf

63.55

66.63

66.82

66.79

66.87

66.81

66.76

shed

67.36

shed

67.47

shed

67.59
67.59

shed

67.06
67.01

stump
67.35

67.18

67.51

po
68.13

67.72

po
68.04

tap
68.28

68.54

68.84

68.565

Sta

68.18

67.87

tree top
79.68

beech
62.96

65.87

65.72

65.95

66.04

63.44

64.56

62.45

shed

65.72

66.13
66.02

track

66.22

66.27

66.47

track
66.62

66.78

66.89

67.22

67.25

67.86

68.10

68.03

68.11

track

68.34

69.12

69.25

ash
69.07
68.93
gate

68.70

gravel

tap
68.68

68.12

67.95

66.20

66.10

bushes

64.82

64.14

65.20

65.40

65.39
65.34

sil.b
61.95

63.47

65.37

65.72

65.75

eucalyptus belt

65.52

65.92

66.17

66.57

67.04

67.55

Sta

69.111

1.90h cbf

67.64

68.89

Church Lane

68.98

FFL: 67.300

grass

68.26

sil.b
65.22
65.06 65.15 65.27

65.22

65.47

grass

2.00h pwf

63.53

64.78

65.10

64.63
64.40

64.90

65.00

65.44

66.06

68.81

67.46

tree top
82.26

63.96

64.23

64.43

64.47

61.55
tree top 61.53
83.39

63.05

63.57

64.33

64.59

64.85

65.22

65.71

64.78 64.84

eucalyptus belt

65.31

66.834

Sta

68.61

68.78

68.82

ep
68.93

1.90h pwf

hazel 60.18
59.29
mb
58.85 59.89
1.80h pwf

59.44

60.46

61.08

61.35

61.86

62.72

63.01

sil.b
63.27

61.06

60.87

59.61

60.71

1.90h pwf

61.22

bamboo

eucalyptus
62.60
62.30
62.13
62.07

eucalyptus
63.12

63.48
1.90h pwf

64.78
64.57

64.81

64.98

65.45

65.69

66.04

eucalyptus belt

65.12

65.48

66.05

67.30

68.67

68.70

68.88

1.90h pwf

59.68

64.55

bushes*

66.07

grass

grass

67.89

68.48

68.95

2.00h pwf

68.43

tree top
83.82

68.62

68.94

1.90h pwf

eucalyptus
62.66

eucalyptus
64.09

66.24

66.35

66.97

67.75

68.23

bushes

rs
68.56

68.45

64.38
64.26
tree top
64.28
85.11
64.20
64.24
63.98
eucalyptus
64.01
63.70 63.86
63.68

64.48
64.41

67.52

66.48

65.96

1.90h pwf

66.07

65.97

66.24

66.21

2.10h pwf

bushes

66.61

66.79

2.10h pwf

67.12

67.65

68.03

68.24

68.56

bk paving

slabs

ridge
70.71

mb
67.92

2.00h pwf 68.14

2.10h pwf

67.97

u/s eaves
68.68

67.92

67.83

67.97

68.22 ep

73.39

Sta

70.41
70.432

oak

-

CLP

20.03.2020

1:200

Scale

Drawn By

Checked Date

115.5003.0501

PBA Drawing No.

Client Drawing No.

RW

Checked By

PRELIMINARY

Project Phase

Chkd

RW

RW

RW

RW

20.03.2020

Drawn Date

By

CLP

RL

CLP

RD

D

Revision

(AT A1 SIZE)

info@paulbashamassociates.com www.paulbashamassociates.com

PROPOSED DRAINAGE STRATEGY

Title

Date

11.08.20

06.11.20

05.03.21

09.03.21

Paul Basham Associates Ltd
Lancaster Court, 8 Barnes Wallis Road, Fareham, PO15 5TU
01489 668134

CHURCH LANE
AWBRIDGE

Project Name

Client

Description

UPDATED TO SUIT NETWORK
MODELLING AS PER CLIENT COMMENT

ARCHITECT'S LAYOUT AMENDED /
DRAINAGE SCHEMATIC REVISED TO SUIT
B

A

ARCHITECT'S LAYOUT AMENDED /
DRAINAGE SCHEMATIC REVISED TO SUIT

REFINEMENTS MADE TO DRAINAGE
SYSTEM

PRELIMINARY

C

D

Rev

70.43

responsibilities to any third party who may use or rely upon this document or the information.

The drawings, information and data recorded in this document ("the information") is the
property of Paul Basham Associates.This document and the information are solely for the
use of the authorized recipient and this document may not be used, copied or reproduced in
whole or part for any purposes other than which it was supplied by Paul Basham Associates.
Paul Basham Associates makes no representation, undertakes no duty and accepts no

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 40

Street Scene (without front trees)

Street Scene

Church Lane, Awbridge
All Saints Church
Street Scene
01794 400310

jules@craftedarchitects.co.uk

revision

1722
job no

This drawing is copyright of Crafted Architects

Rev.
Description
A
External materials changed; minor design alterations

dwg no

March 2019
date

A

D-112

Date
Feb 21

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 41

1 : 200

Site Section

1 : 200

Street Scene, with trees

HOUSE 2

Date
Sept 20
Feb 21

Street Scene & Site Section
This drawing is copyright of Sherlock Boswell Architecture

revision

All Saints Church
drawing

B

D-114

1722
job no
dwg no

1 : 200 @A2
client

March 2020
scale

Church Parking & Associated
Development
Church Lane
Awbridge
project

date

410 The Grange, Romsey Road, Michelmersh, Romsey, SO51 0AE 01794 400311 jules@craftedarchitects.co.uk

Rev.
Description
A
Houses and gardens repositioned to suit sole use of existing access off Church Lane
B
External materials changed; minor design alterations

CHURCH LANE

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 42

N

Raised bed

67050

Utility

67200

1 : 100

House 1 - Ground Floor Plan

67200

Double
Garage

Study

Built-in
shelves

67980

WC

65500

66330

67200

Dining

C'bd

67200

Hall

67050

Living Room

Raised bed

Terrace

Kitchen/Breakfast
Room

67200

1 : 100

67980

Garage 1 - West Elevation

1:26

1 : 100

1 : 100

1:10

Garage 1 - South Elevation

Garage 1 - North Elevation

1 : 100

Dark stained
timber cladding
over brick plinth

Garage 1 - East Elevation

Timber doors

Plain clay
tile roof

Bedroom 3

En Suite

1 : 100

House 1 - First Floor Plan

r/l

AC

En Suite

Bedroom 4

Bedroom 2

Dressing
Room
Bedroom 1

En Suite

2

Scale -1:100

0

4

1 : 100

1 : 100

Bathroom

House 1 - West Elevation

House 1 - South Elevation

1 : 100

Facing brick

House 1 - East Elevation

Plain clay
tile roof

1 : 100

Bedroom 5

Oak
framing

Tile hanging

House 1 - North Elevation

Painted timber
casements

Exposed
rafter feet

6

8

10m

All Saints Church
House 1 - Plans and Elevations as
Proposed

Church Parking & Associated
Development
Church Lane
Awbridge

This drawing is copyright of Crafted Architects Ltd.

drawing

client

project

rev.

B

job

D-210

1 : 100 @A1
1722

scale

dwg

March 2020
date

Date
Sept 20
Feb 21

01794 400311 jules@craftedarchitects.co.uk
Rev.
Description
A
Houses and gardens repositioned to suit sole use of existing access off Church Lane
B
External materials changed

410 The Grange, Romsey Road, Michelmersh, Romsey, SO51 0AE

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 43

N

C'bd

67400

Raised bed

WC

1 : 100

House 2 - Ground Floor Plan

67400

Gravel path

Utility/Boots

68010

66450

Dining

Study

Built in
shelves

68005

Hall

67250

67250

68005

Living Room

Raised bed

Terrace

Kitchen/Breakfast
Room

67400

1 : 100

1 : 100

Gravel drive

Garage 2 - West Elevation

Garage 2 - South Elevation

Stone setts

1 : 100

1 : 100

Double
Garage

Garage 2 - North Elevation

Garage 2 - East Elevation

1:14

Timber
gate

Bedroom 3

1 : 100

House 2 - First Floor Plan

En Suite

Bedroom 4

Dressing
Room

Bedroom 5

En Suite

AC

Bathroom

Bedroom 2

Bedroom 1

En Suite

2

Scale -1:100

0

1 : 100

1 : 100

Gallery

House 2 - West Elevation

House 2 - South Elevation

1 : 100

Facing
brick

House 2 - East Elevation

Plain clay
tile roof

1 : 100

Tile hanging

House 2 - North Elevation

Painted timber
casements

Oak framing

4

6

8

10m

All Saints Church
House 2 - Plans and Elevations as
Proposed

Church Parking & Associated
Development
Church Lane
Awbridge

This drawing is copyright of Crafted Architects Ltd.

drawing

client

project

rev.

B

job

D-220

1 : 100 @A1
1722

scale

dwg

March 2020
date

Date
Sept 20
Feb 21

01794 400311 jules@craftedarchitects.co.uk
Rev.
Description
A
Houses and gardens repositioned to suit sole use of existing access off Church Lane
B
External materials changed

410 The Grange, Romsey Road, Michelmersh, Romsey, SO51 0AE

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 44

N

1 : 100

House 3 - Ground Floor Plan

Kitchen/Breakfast
Room

Living Room

Hall

68650

68600

Built in
shelves

Dining

Study

1 : 100

1 : 100

1:15

68500

Garage - East Elevation

Garage 3 - South Elevation

68820

1 : 100

1 : 100

Cloaks

WC

Utility/Boots

69120

Double
Garage

Garage 3 - North Elevation

Garage - West Elevation

1:22
68600

Dressing
Room

1 : 100

House 3 - First Floor Plan

Bedroom 1

En Suite

Bedroom 5

Bedroom 2
En Suite

AC

Bedroom 4

Bedroom 3

Bathroom

0

Scale -1:100

2

4

1 : 100

1 : 100

Gallery

House 3 - West Elevation

House 3 - South Elevation

1 : 100

Exposed rafter
feet

House 3 - East Elevation

S/c render

1 : 100

Plain clay tiles

House 3 - North Elevation

En Suite

Painted timber casements
with tiled sub cills and
brick surrounds

Brick arch

6

8

10m

All Saints Church
House 3 - Plans and Elevations as
Proposed

Church Parking & Associated
Development
Church Lane
Awbridge

This drawing is copyright of Crafted Architects Ltd.

drawing

client

project

rev.

B

job

D-230

1 : 100 @A1
1722

scale

dwg

March 2020
date

Date
Sept 20
Feb 21

01794 400311 jules@craftedarchitects.co.uk
Rev.
Description
A
Houses and gardens repositioned to suit sole use of existing access off Church Lane
B
External materials changed

410 The Grange, Romsey Road, Michelmersh, Romsey, SO51 0AE

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 1
Page 1
Awbridge Parish Council involvement in Church Lane Development
2019
January – PC supports nursery site enabling development solution in principle
February – PC informed pre-application advice being sought.
March – Planning proposal first discussed at Annual Parish Assembly
August – PC confirms support for Church led application and exhibition detailing scheme
September- Public exhibition held at All Saints Church
October – December – Further discussion about proposed scheme held at PC meetings.
2020
January – 42 residents attend PC meeting, where detailed discussion held before PC votes to
support scheme in principle.
April – PC receives update on revised scheme
June – PC discusses scheme
July – PC discusses planning application now submitted and plans for public consultation
August – PC discusses scheme
July/August – Public consultation – collation of responses and result overseen by PC Chair
September – PC notes consultation response but defers decision to allow time for meeting
between Church Lane residents and applicant/developer
October – PC defers decision to allow more time for Church Lane residents/applicant &
developer meeting
December – PC defers decision to allow for further attempts to arrange Church Lane
residents/applicant & developer meeting.

Page 45

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 2
Page 1
2021
January – PC defers decision and agrees to allow for PC arranged meeting between Church
Lane residents and applicant.
January/February – Two meetings held with Church Lane residents and applicant and then
applicant & developer
February – PC considers revised plans presented by developer. PC votes by majority to
support scheme.

Page 46

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 1

Detailed Chronology including Parish Council minutes:

2005 Concern raised over need to enlarge graveyard by Church.
2013 Attempts to find a solution with neighbouring landowner enabled by new housing.
Strong local support for the proposal and 42 positive responses to a letter from the Rector
including Parish Council. Unable to negotiate suitable scheme with landowners.
2016 Parish Council support for identifying solution sought by Church wardens
January 2019 The initial proposed scheme was presented to the Parish Council by
Churchwarden Fred Tucker It was proposed that a development of four detached houses
would be built on the frontage to Church Lane together with a car park and an extension to
the graveyard. It was originally proposed that the Nursery Use would be relocated to the
rear of the site. It was explained that:
‘The main benefit will be the extension of the church graveyard. In addition, the provision of
car parking will enable the Church to realise its full potential as a community hub, regardless
of parishioners’ religious beliefs or non-beliefs. This will encourage greater community
cohesion. The provision of car parking will also address the periodic traffic congestion
problems in Church Lane, which presents access problems for emergency vehicles.’
Following a discussion, the Parish Council decided to support the proposal in principle.

Page 47

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 2
February 2019 Church Warden reported to the Parish Council that the TVBC Planning
Department had been approached and that it was proposed that a pre-application
submission would be made to allow initial consideration of the proposal. The PC agreed to
include the proposal as an item for the Annual Parish assembly in March.
Parish Council Minute:
Minutes of the meeting of Awbridge Parish Council held in Awbridge Village Hall, Romsey
Road SO51 0HG on Thursday, 28th February 2019 at 7.30pm
4. 15/19 Public observations/questions on agenda items
FT advised that following ‘in principle’ support for the proposed Church Lane/All Saints
development by the Parish Council, and a subsequent approach to TVBC Planning
Department, submission of a pre-application is being actively considered. It was agreed by
Members that this should be placed as an agenda item for the Annual Parish Assembly at
the end of March.

Page 48

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 3
March 2019 Item discussed at the Annual Parish Assembly
Parish Council Minute:
MINUTES OF THE 35th AWBRIDGE ANNUAL PARISH ASSEMBLY
HELD IN AWBRIDGE VILLAGE HALL ON 28th March 2019 AT 7.30PM

Present:

Cllrs Allen (PA) (Chair), Daley (Vice Chair), Jackson (GJ), Legon, Seymour
(KS) Wheeler (SW), HCC Cllr Roy Perry, Test Valley Borough Council
(TVBC), Cllr Nick Adams-King (NAK), Gordon Bailey GB 18 members of
the public.

Apologies:
Minute taker:

Peter Allen
Ian Milsom

3. Local issues:
•

Church Lane/All Saints Church planning proposal
FT advised that Church running out of burial space and there is a pressing need for a car
park. The Church has been looking for a suitable piece of land to accommodate these
additions since 2013.
Currently looking at proposal with local developer, support from PC and assistance from
planners. Also working with public utilities people, e.g. Southern Water. Developer will
fund extension of graveyard and provide car park. FT showed an overhead a slide with
street scene. Plan is for four houses adjacent to new nursery land. Graveyard and car park
to right of this. FT asked for questions from the public, there were none.

Page 49

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 4
May 2019 Church Warden provided a further update on the scheme to the PC.
Parish Council minute:
Minutes of the annual meeting of Awbridge Parish Council held in Awbridge Village Hall,
Romsey Road SO51 on Thursday, 16th May 2019 at 7.30pm
6. 15/19 Public observations/questions on agenda items
FT updated on the proposed development in Church Lane. A pre-planning application has
been submitted.

Page 50

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 5
August 2019 Church Warden updated the PC on the feedback from the pre-app submission,
in particular that the planners had emphasised the need for greater involvement in the
process from the community. The Churchwarden suggested that the Parish Council might
want to be joint applicants with the church to emphasise that it was a community project.
Parish Council Minute:
Minutes of the meeting of Awbridge Parish Council held in Awbridge Village Hall, Romsey
Road SO51 0HG on Thursday, 29th August 2019 at 7.30pm
6. 43/19 Planning To consider planning applications notified to the Council.
FT, who at previous meetings has kept the parish council up to date on the proposed
housing/extension of the graveyard/additional church parking development in Church Lane,
advised that a planning pre-application has been submitted. FT informed that the planners
seek more involvement from the community, suggesting that the parish council become a
joint applicant with the church. NAK felt that it should be the Parochial Church Council that
leads on any formal involvement with a planning application. FT is arranging an open
evening at the village hall to enable parishioners and parish councillors to learn more about
the proposed development.

Page 51

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 6
September 2019 A public consultation event was held at the Church to inform the public
about the scheme. About 60 people attended the event and 66 questionnaire responses
were eventually returned. 50 responses fully supported the proposals and a further 6 were
partially in support (i.e. they had some reservations such as the number of houses
proposed). The main concerns were the precedent that could be set in relation to further
development in the village, and the number of units proposed.

Page 52

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 7
October 2019 The PC were updated about the public consultation event. Church Warden
also advised that he and church representatives had met with the Parish Council Chairman
to discuss the proposals. The Churchwarden confirmed that it was entirely appropriate for
the PC to support the scheme in principle prior to its formal consideration of the planning
application. It was therefore agreed that a well-publicised public meeting of the Parish
Council would be held in November to allow a full airing of the proposals.
Parish Council Minute:
Minutes of the meeting of Awbridge Parish Council Held in Awbridge Village Hall, Romsey
Road SO51 0HG on Thursday, 3rd October 2019 at 7.30pm

3.

50/19

Public observations/questions on agenda items
FT updated on the consultation around the proposed development in
Church Lane, comprising four new-build houses linked to the extension of
the graveyard at All Saints Church and the provision of a car park for
church users. Around sixty people attended the consultation event
organised by the developer and church representatives. Most responses
came via the questionnaire made available at the event. Most written
responses seem to support the proposed development; however, this
needs to be confirmed via a detailed analysis of the questionnaires
completed.
FT and church representatives have met with the parish council chairman
to discuss the proposal. FT reported that TVBC Planning department has
said that there is nothing to prevent the parish council supporting the
proposed development in principle, subject to being able to comment
further on the full application when this is submitted. GJ has requested
examples of where parish councils’ have taken this approach.
DC asked for clarification about issues to consider if those close to the
proposed development raise concerns and/or object
Following discussion it was proposed and agreed that Council’s Planning
Committee meeting scheduled for 31 October 2019 should be put back to
7th November. This change to be widely publicised to the public and carry
information that people who feel uncomfortable with meetings can
instead contact their local councillor regarding their views.

Page 53

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 8

November 2019 At a meeting of the Parish Council Planning Committee, Church Warden
described the proposals and the justification for scheme.
Parish Council members asked a range of questions which were answered by the
Churchwarden and Paul Airey (agent for the proposed application) and members were also
promised access to the consultation responses from the exhibition, the viability report
prepared in support of the proposals, together with further justification for the need for the
graveyard extension and the car park. The committee decided to postpone any decision on
‘in principle’ support for the proposed project until it has received and considered the
information referred to above.
November 2019 A further meeting of the Parish Council was held at which the public were
invited again to discuss the proposals. Paul Airey updated the meeting about the progress of
the scheme and discussions with the Borough Council. It was emphasised that the scheme
was being progressed by the Church as a community supported development and would be
considered by the Planning Authority under the provisions of policy COM 9 (Community Led
Development). It was pointed out that if the Parish Council did not support the scheme then
it would be unable to progress. It was suggested to the meeting by Paul Airey that the
proposals could be considered as part of the evolving Neighbourhood Plan as suggested
within the policy, however the TVBC representative at the meeting, Cllr Adams-King,
pointed out that the Neighbourhood Plan was not sufficiently advanced for this to be a
feasible option.
Parish Council Minute:
Minutes of the meeting of the Council Planning Committee held at 8.00pm on Thursday,
7th November 2019 in Awbridge Village Hall, Romsey Road, Awbridge SO51 0HG
Present:

Apologies:
17/047p

Cllrs Jackson (GJ) (Chair) Allen, (PA) Coggon (DC), Sheppard (AS)
7 members of the public, Planning Application Representative Paul
Airey (PAI) , Fred Tucker (FT), Warden, All Saints Church, Awbridge.
Cllrs Adams-King, Legon
Proposed development at Church Lane
To receive information about the proposed development, take views
from the public and to decide Council’s position.

Page 54

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 9

FT provided contextual background to the current outline planning
application for the erection of four detached houses, provision of a car
park and extension of the graveyard on land adjacent to All Saints
Church, Church Lane, Awbridge.
All Saints Church has been searching for several years for a piece of land
to enable the church graveyard to be extended, and a few potential
sites have been explored without success. There is capacity at the
graveyard for around seven more years, assuming 4 burials per year.
Parking at the church is also problematic and vehicles are forced to park
on the roadside. This practice inhibits access for larger vehicles, which
could include ambulances and fire appliances. Plans to extend the use
of the Church as a community hub is likely to increase the incidence of
road-side parking.
Linked to the proposed development of houses in Church Lane is an
offer from the developer to gift to the community land to extend the
church graveyard and to provide parking for church users.
Earlier in the year around seventy parishioners attended a public
presentation about the proposed development. It was reported that
around 83% of those attending were in favour of the development.
The land which will be used for the proposed development is classified
as countryside as it lies outside the development envelope. In
accordance with Policy COM9 (Community Led Development) of Test
Valley Borough Council Local Plan 2011-2029, it can only proceed if it is
demonstrated that the community has been involved in the
preparation of the proposal and supports it.
For the benefit of members of the public present, GJ explained the
Parish Council’s role in the planning process.
Several queries were raised by the Parish Council regarding the level of
public support indicated by attendees at the public meeting and the
preceding consultation questionnaire. Council questioned the number
of occasions when Church Lane is congested with vehicle traffic.
Council requested sight of the questionnaires that have been
completed to satisfy itself as to the level of community support, to

Page 55

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 10

determine if such support relates to the whole of the proposed scheme
or just the graveyard extension and the car park; and how many of the
respondents live in Church Lane.
PAI advised that the public meeting was just one part of a wider
consultation. Need to get whole community on board. Will discuss
with the Parish Council how further engagement of the community can
be affected.
PAI offered to provide Council with a copy of the project feasibility
study, which the Parish Council welcomed.
Comments from the public present:
A member of the public resident in Church Lane expressed a negative
view about housebuilding to fund the church graveyard extension, and
car park.
Another member of the public said that they had never experienced a
problem when driving through Church Lane.
A member of the public expressed concern that if successful, the
proposed project would set a precedent.
Council decide to postpone any decision on ‘in principle’ support for the
proposed project until it has received and considered the information
referred to above.

Page 56

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 11

January 2020 A full public meeting of the PC was again held to allow public discussion of the
proposals. 42 residents were in attendance. There was a wide ranging discussion which
took the majority of the PC meeting. Majority support was indicated for the scheme. Some
concerns were also raised about the following matters:
•
The possibility of increased traffic along Church Lane.
•
The appropriateness of the housing types and its affordability
•
The number and sizes of the houses proposed
•
The subjectivity of supporting evidence
•
The danger of precedent if the scheme was permitted.
•
Whether the scale of development proposed was commensurate with the benefits
to the community
•
Whether the Parish Council’s established protocol of not speaking to developers
until detailed planning applications were submitted would be compromised.

Parish Council Minute:
Minutes of the meeting of the Council Held in Awbridge Village Hall on Thursday, 9th
January 2020 at 7.30pm
Present: Cllrs Jackson (Chair) (GJ), Seymour (KS) (Vice Chair), Coggon (DC), Adams-King
(NAK), Sheppard (AS), Allen (PA), Legon (PL)
In attendance: 42 members of the public, Cllr Gordon Bailey TVBC, Fred Tucker (FT)
Warden, All Saints Church Awbridge, Paul Airey Planning Consultant
2. 2/20 Public observations/questions on agenda items
A member of the public requested that the minutes of Parish Council meetings provide
clearer information about the reasons for planning decisions.
GJ advised members of the public that the agenda item regarding the proposed
development in Church Lane on land adjacent to All Saints Church was being brought
forward to enable the broadest input from members of the public present. GJ asked that
individual contributions be concise, to allow as many people as possible to speak.
There were several contributions from members of the congregation of All Saints Church,
some of whom live outside the Parish. These were in favour of the development.

Page 57

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3

Page 12
The volume of traffic parking on the roadside in Church Lane during Sunday services and
special events was highlighted. It was suggested that this will increase when, following
refurbishment, the church is increasingly used as a community facility. There was also
support for the extension of the graveyard, which some residents felt is crucial to enabling
those who have close ties with Awbridge to be laid to rest in the village.
There was some input from those living in Church Lane, with one resident claiming that the
developer had not sought their views on the proposed development. Concern was
expressed that the development will result in increased traffic in Church Lane, to the
detriment of residents there. There were additional comments regarding:
• the appropriateness of the proposed housing in terms of size, and its affordability for
young families
• The number and size of houses proposed would be over-development of the site
• The subjectivity of supporting evidence submitted by the developer
• The proposed development, if approved, setting a precedent for using Policy COM9 of the
Test Valley Local Plan 2011-29 to circumvent planning regulations in order to build homes
outside of the settlement boundary.
NAK interposed at appropriate points in the discussion to explain:
• The purpose and process of pre-planning submissions, which enable planning applicants to
ask planners if the proposal fits with local and national planning regulations and protocols.
Planners will give guidance on what might be compliant and what might not be, so
applicants can assess whether it is worth proceeding further.
• Policy COM 9 of the Test Valley Local Plan 2011-29, which sets out the framework for
considering development which will meet community needs and help support community
facilities. Development can only take place under Policy COM 9 if it is rural affordable
housing, AND/OR the development is of discernible benefit to the community which is
commensurate with the value of the housing proposed. There will be future questions about
the types of housing and whether it fits with existing properties.
• The question facing the Parish Council tonight is whether it is equitable to lend in
principle support to the development on the basis that it has the support of the community,
and that the benefit accruing to the community is commensurate with the value of the
residential element of the proposal.
• The Parish Council is not the arbiter of the final decision, this resting with Test Valley
Borough Council as the planning authority. Even if the Parish Council gives in principle
support to the development, this decision can be reversed when it views the final plans.

Page 58

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 13

The developer’s agent commented that the developer has carried out a cost benefit
analysis, which suggests that the development will not be sustainable if the residential
element of the proposal comprised of social housing. The Agent explained that if the Parish
Council does not support the proposal in principle, it will not go ahead. If the proposal does
move forward, there will be further opportunity for the Parish Council, and members of the
public, to influence the development. GJ drew the public session to a close and informed
that the Parish Council would now move to consider its response to the proposed Church
Lane development ( See agenda item 5.)
5. 5/20 Planning. Church Lane - To decide Councils response to the pre-planning
submission.
The clerk circulated copies of emails submitted by parishioners.
Members of the Parish Council had a wide-ranging and prolonged discussion regarding the
Church Lane development. Areas touched upon included:
The lack of rigorous information needed to reach an informed decision, for example, data
relating to: •
The actual level of support for the proposal development, particularly from residents of
Church Lane;
• The volume of traffic using Church Lane and the actual extent of the parking problem
when the church is in use
• The number of burials and cremations over the past 5 years, which would enable an
assessment of the pressure on the existing graveyard.
Alternative sources of funding for the provision of a church car park and the extension of
the graveyard were discussed, including a contribution from the Dioceses of Winchester and
a grant from Test Valley Borough Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy fund.
Concern that the Parish Council’s established protocol of not speaking to developers until
detailed planning applications were submitted would be compromised.
GJ moved to a vote on the proposed development. It was proposed by PA, seconded by NAK
that a vote be taken on giving in principle support to the proposed development in Church
Lane. Three members voted in favour, and an equal number voted against. Chairman GJ
used his casting vote in favour of in principle support. Motion carried.

Page 59

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 14

February 2020 At a meeting of the PC, Church Warden circulated further information
justifying the car park and graveyard extensions as had been requested by members. He
advised that the Church were proposing a further meeting with TVBC in March and that the
PC would be further advised on the position in April.
Minutes of the meeting of the Council held in Awbridge Village Hall, Romsey Road SO51
0HG on Thursday, 27th February 2020 at 7.30pm

6. 16/20 Planning
Church Lane – Land adjacent to All Saints Church
Prior to the meeting, FT had circulated the information requested by the Parish Council
regarding the capacity of the church graveyard and typical traffic volumes/vehicle parking
when the church is in use. FT advised that the Church would have a further meeting with
Test Valley Borough Council Planning in the week beginning 2nd March 2020 and the Parish
Council will receive an update at its meeting on 2nd April. The Parish Council requested that
Winchester Diocese provide written confirmation that they will not provide financial
support for the extension of the All Saints Church graveyard, or for parking provision at the
church.

Page 60

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 15

April 2020 Virtual meeting of the PC. Members were advised that a planned public
exhibition of the revised proposal had not been able to take place at the Annual Parish
meeting as it had had to be cancelled due to the Lockdown. Instead, an information item
about the revised proposals had been included in the Awbridge News newsletter,
requesting any comments should be sent to the Churchwarden. The PC requested formal
confirmation that the Winchester Diocese would not provide financial support for the
scheme and this has been conformed verbally.
The Parish Council noted that the scheme had been revised to three units to address some
of the concerns raised by the public/members and acknowledged that the applicant wanted
to progress to a planning application. It was the view of the PC that the revised plans should
be considered again by the public before the application was submitted and this was
communicated to the applicant’s agent by Cllr Adams-King by email.

Minutes of the meeting of the Council held on Zoom
Video Conferencing on Thursday, 2nd April 2020 at 7.30pm

3. Proposed development in Church Lane on land adjacent to All Saints Church.
NAK advised that the latest edition of Awbridge News had carried information about this
proposed development, which is at the pre-application stage.
The number of houses proposed at the site has been reduced from four to three. The
developer now wishes to submit a full planning application.
NAK has met with the developer’s agent and Test Valley Borough Council’s Head of Planning
to discuss this. Developer’s agent was reminded of the need to demonstrate the value of
the benefit accruing to the community compared to the profit from the development
project. The ongoing planning impact of nitrate mitigation requirements was also
highlighted.
Given the postponement, in March, of the Annual Parish Meeting due to Covid-19, members
of the public did not, as the developer intended, have an additional opportunity to
comment on the proposed development. The planning authority would like the public to be
consulted further when lockdown measures allow the Annual Parish Meeting to go ahead.

Page 61

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 16
NAK will confirm the above points to the developer and other interested individuals by
email.
Postscript. It seems clear that at this time the full impact of the Pandemic was not
understood.

Page 62

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 17
June 2020 With the lockdown continuing and the inability to hold a public meeting, the
Churchwarden approached the Chairman of the PC about whether the PC would support the
application being submitted without further consultation, on the basis that local people and
the PC would get an opportunity to be consulted during the planning process.
The Chairman consulted his members and it was agreed that the application did not need
to be delayed, and this was confirmed in an email to the Churchwarden.

Minutes of the meeting of the Council held on Zoom
Video Conferencing on Thursday, 25th June 2020 at 7.30pm

4.

48/20

Planning
3. Church Lane development update
It was noted that a formal planning application has now 3 been
submitted. In line with comments made at the public meeting, the
number of dwellings has been reduced from four to three, and the plans
incorporate a public area. There was a general discussion regarding the
parish council’s scope of influence in relation to the proposed Church
Lane development.

Page 63

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 18
July 2020
Parish Council discusses application at Planning Committee meeting, including

Minutes of the Awbridge Parish Council planning meeting held on Zoom Video
conferencing on Tuesday, 21st July 2020 at 7.30pm Present: 12 members of the public
Apologies: Cllr Adams-King (NAK)

20/004p To consider planning applications notified to Council Land West of All Saints
Church, Church Lane
GJ explained to the members of the public present that no open public session has been
included in the agenda for tonight’s planning meeting. However, in recognition of the level
of interest in the proposed church lane development, the Parish Council (PC) will take
questions from the floor and will attempt to answer these tonight where possible.
GJ explained the PC’s role in the planning process. The PC does not make the final decision
on planning applications, this being the responsibility of Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC)
as the planning authority.
The PC puts forward comments to TVBC on planning applications and indicates whether it
supports or objects to the application. Objections to planning applications are the subject of
strict criteria and must be based on material planning considerations.
DC asked for clarification on whether, in this case where community support is required, the
PC’s support counts for more than it would with other planning applications. GJ agreed that
as it is being made under COM9 of the TVBC revised Local Plan 2011-29, the support of the
parish council is key to the application’s success.
GJ expressed the view that as the PC has already voted to support the project in principle,
the focus tonight should be on considering the planning aspects of the application rather
than looking back over the process to date. DC expressed confusion at this, explaining that
he had understood that giving in ‘principle support’ meant that the PC was happy for the
proposal to be further developed, not that thereafter the PC would have no further input
except in relation to planning issues.

Page 64

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 19
PL felt that since the submission of the full planning application the process was moving
away from that described in COM9, with the decision seeming to now rest with planning
officers rather than on the support of the community.
In response to a question from DC, GJ informed of a conversation that had taken place
between the Developer’s agent and two representatives of the PC, when community
concerns about what was happening with the proposed development were highlighted.
Following on from this, GJ advised that the Church is going forward with a community
consultation that will take the form of a questionnaire that will be distributed along with the
Awbridge District Village Association (ADVA) newsletter.
The questionnaire will simply ask parishioners if they do/do not support the application and
is intended to give each member of a household the opportunity to comment on the
proposed Church Lane development.
GJ proposed holding off on the PC’s decision on the planning aspects of the Church Lane
development until it has seen the results of the applicant’s latest questionnaire. GJ
explained that the PC is not constrained by the planning consultation deadline, (31 July
2020), and it can submit comments up until the date the application is considered by the
TVBC Planning Committee.
PL questioned whether retrospective engagement with the community counted under
COM9. GJ advised that he had sought advice on this point and is confident that it will not be
an issue as it is satisfying the applicant’s need to consult with the public. GJ added that the
applicant has already met the normal requirements of COM9 and had intended to consult
further with the Awbridge community at the annual parish assembly in March. This was not
possible due to the pandemic.
PL asked if the PC would have the opportunity to look at the questions in the questionnaire
before it is distributed. GJ replied that with the applicants permission, copies of the
questionnaire could be made available to Members. PL reminded members that DC had
already done some work around a questionnaire. There followed a discussion about how
information gathering could be accurately achieved through an appropriately designed
questionnaire, with contextualised questions presented in the correct way. DC felt that it
might be better if such a questionnaire came from a group that is not proposing the
development. GJ pointed out that COM 9 is clear that the consultation must come from the
applicant. DC nevertheless felt it would be helpful if the PC had some critical input to the
questionnaire in order to ensure that it delivered the sort of information that would enable
the PC to reach a decision as to whether to support the development. PL agreed that
without detailed answers the PC will not be able to reach a decision one way or the other.

Page 65

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 20
GJ made clear his opposition to this approach and expressed the view that there was a risk
of it producing a fragmented picture.
The idea of weighting questionnaire responses from residents of Church Lane was raised. GJ
opposed this and felt it was a move away from the process outlined in COM9. DC disagreed,
feeling that the issue is not simply about establishing the balance of opinion of the
community, but in gauging what the need is.
There was then a discussion about ‘fraud prevention’ in relation to the questionnaire.
Suggestions to prevent this included hand-numbering the questionnaire and measures to
prevent it from being photocopied. It was agreed that another planning meeting would be
required to consider the results of the questionnaire, and to consider the planning aspects
of the Church Lane application. No date was set. FT provided the information that a
questionnaire circulated in ADVA news would be delivered only within the parish of
Awbridge.
GJ asked Members for their views about proceeding with the applicant’s questionnaire, redesigned by DC, with the results being collated by the PC. PL and DC indicated their support.
No motion was proposed or seconded, and there was not vote taken.
Questions from members of the public
These included:
• How will it be ensured that only Awbridge residents complete the questionnaire?
• Post questionnaire, will parishioners be able to have further input to the planning
process? • Why has there been no previous discussion about alternative approaches to the
project, e.g. smaller car park, larger graveyard
• As a gesture of goodwill, can the applicant temporarily withdraw the application pending
the outcome of the questionnaire? GJ responded to the above questions.
The clerk asked for clarification regarding Council’s response to the planning aspects of the
Church Lane application. GJ advised the clerk that this be in the form of a holding response,
stating that the parish 4 Documents/minutes/planning/July 2020 council would be
submitting comments when the results of the questionnaire were known.

Page 66

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 21

August 2020
Parish Council discuss Church Lane application at Full PC meeting.

Minutes of the Awbridge Parish Council meeting held on
Zoom Video conferencing on Thursday, 6th August 2020 at 7.30pm
In attendance: 18 members of the public.

5. 57/20 Public observations/questions on agenda items
There were no observations or questions from the public on items on the agenda.

5. To confirm the minutes of the planning meeting held on 21st July 2020.

4) Page 3, paragraph 7. Take out 2 “No motion was proposed or seconded, and no vote was
taken”. Motion failed. NAK felt that this text accurately recorded what happened at the
meeting and should remain. The motion relates to a discussion at the July meeting
concerning a questionnaire that the developer intended to circulate to parishioners. DC felt
that this would not provide the information that the Parish Council needed to make an
informed decision about the planning application.
An alternative questionnaire and covering letter, prepared by DC, and issued by the Parish
Council was discussed and it was agreed to proceed on this basis.
After the meeting, having sought advice from the clerk and NAK, GJ took the decision to
proceed instead with the developer’s questionnaire. There was a protracted discussion
around the reasons for GJ’s change of plan. DC asked the clerk for details of the advice he
had given to GJ. The clerk informed that he had advised GJ that as the parish council
questionnaire had not been specifically identified as an agenda item (motion) in advance of
the meeting, a decision linked to this would be unlawful.
NAK clarified that his advice to GJ was given in his role as TVBC councillor, Deputy Leader of
TVBC and TVBC Cabinet Member for Planning. He felt that DC’s proposed questionnaire and
accompanying letter was not appropriate, and in any case would have had to be circulated
wider than the parish.

Page 67

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 22
DC questioned the validity of the clerk’s advice. In response, the clerk suggested that the
matter be referred to the Hampshire Association of Local Council’s for adjudication. This
was formally proposed by DC and seconded by PA. There was not a majority in favour and
the motion failed.
NAK proposed that a way forward might be to add the following text to the minutes of 21st
July 2020. “Subsequent to the meeting, GJ sought advice from the clerk and NAK. Based on
the advice received, GJ decided upon a different way forward, this being that the developer
should issue a questionnaire, which, when completed by recipients, will be returned to the
Parish Council for opening, sorting, and collating of the responses”. This was proposed and
seconded and there was a majority in favour. Resolved
There was a discussion about how to ensure that the questionnaires were circulated to, and
returned, by individuals residing in the parish (and who receive copies of ADVA news), or
who identify with the parish, for example those living in Old Salisbury Lane and in Newtown.
FT felt that this would be achieved through the numbering of the questionnaires.
7. 59/20 Planning
2) Church lane development
To receive an update on progress and to consider further action by the Parish Council as
appropriate.
NAK updated on an issue raised outside the meeting by AS about the change in planning
officer for the Church Lane application. NAK explained that this was purely for reasons of
planning officers’ workloads. NAK provided an overview of the viability assessment which
would be carried out by an external consultant to determine if the Church Lane
development will provide sufficient value to the community compared with the developer’s
profit. Nothing further was discussed in relation to action by the Parish Council.

Page 68

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 23
July/August 2020
Parish Council Chairman oversees the opening of responses to survey sent out in ADVA
magazine to residents of Awbridge. Reponses checked and collated in presence of PC
Chairman, who confirms result of consultation and conveys to PC members via email.

September 2020
Parish Council discuss Church Lane Development, including result of the survey carried out
amongst parishoners. PC agree to defer decision to allow time for a meeting between the
applicant, developer and residents of Church Lane.

Minutes of the Awbridge Parish Council meeting held on Zoom
video conferencing on Thursday, 17th September 2020 at 7.30pm
7 members of the public present
20/01448/FULLS Land West of All Saints Church, Church Lane.
Since Council met last the results of the developer-led survey have become available. There
was a thirty-six per cent return rate, with seventy-two per cent in favour, and twenty-seven
percent against the application.
NAK advised that the application will not come before TVBC Southern Area Planning
Committee until either 17 November 2020, or 3 December 2020, giving the Parish Council
further time to consider its response.
A discussion followed, and covered the following:
• How can the Parish Council influence the planning process to make the proposal as
acceptable as possible to the widest range of residents?’
• Parish Council to encourage the applicant and TVBC planners to contact residents to hear
their concerns.
• Arranging and facilitating a meeting to enable residents’ to air their concerns to the
applicant and planners.

Page 69

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 24

• Any such meeting to take place within a timescale that allows applicant to consider
residents’ concerns and adjust proposal as appropriate.
• Who should arrange the meeting?
• Should Parish Councillors attend, and if so, what should be their role?
• Should the proposed meeting be minuted?
• Protection of the graveyard extension, car park and open area to ensure continuing
benefit to the community
• Ongoing maintenance of the car park and open area
• Ongoing oversight of the car park to prevent encroachment
• Transfer of the open area to the Parish Council, thus enabling its ongoing supervision
(particularly to prevent anti-social behaviour), and maintenance of the area to be financially
supported via the annual parish council precept.
It was agreed that the arrangements for the proposed community meeting, its format, who
should attend, and whether the meeting is minuted, should be decided by residents. NAK
offered to facilitate the meeting, but expressed the view that and independent facilitator,
such as a Community Support Officer from TVBC, would be preferable.
The applicant’s representative expressed a willingness to be involved in the proposed
residents’ meeting, to listen to resident’s concerns, and to consider if there is anything that
the applicant can do to address these.
It was suggested that it would be helpful if someone from the Parish Council was present at
the meeting as an observer, feeding back information that the Parish Council would find
helpful in reaching a decision.
Members of the public present were invited to speak. A resident of Church Lane, making
clear that he spoke in a personal capacity only, expressed support for the proposed
meeting, feeling it to be a constructive move, and long overdue.
The resident suggested that Church Lane and Coombe Lane residents be given time to take
stock, and to reach a decision as to who should lead the proposed meeting.
The Parish Council agreed with this approach and undertook to maintain oversight to ensure
that the meeting arrangements, and the meeting itself, proceed in a timely manner. The

Page 70

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 25

Parish Council further agreed to hold over any decision on the application until the
proposed meeting of residents, the applicant, and planners have taken place.

Page 71

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 26

October 2020
PC discuss Church Lane Development once more. Note that no meeting between the
applicant, developer and Church Lane residents had taken place. Agree to defer decision
once more to allow time for such a meeting to be arranged.

Minutes of the online meeting of Awbridge Parish Council
held on Thursday, 29th October 2020 at 7.30pm
5. 87/20 Public observations/questions on agenda items
Resident A informed that a meeting between residents and All Saints Church had been
mooted as a means of bringing the planning applicant (All Saints Church) and residents
together to discuss the concerns of the latter concerning the proposed development.
Resident A, together with another Church Lane resident met recently with FT. Resident A
described this as a fruitful and open discussion about the concerns that people in Church
Lane have regarding the proposed development. It was felt, however, that the Church needs
to provide residents with more information regarding the following:
• Plans to extend Church community activity and the impact this may have on the village
hall.
• Traffic impact of the Church’s extended community activities.
• Why is the proposed Church car park so big?
• What is the justification for the planned community garden, and how will anti-social
behaviour here and in the car park be prevented?
• Is there a business case for the graveyard expansion?
Resident A reminded that residents had proposed using Place Studio as a meeting facilitator
and had suggested a pre-meeting with Place Studio to agree how the meeting between
residents and the Church would be conducted, when it would take place, and the content of
the agenda. It was felt that residents should 3/8 have ample time to digest and consider
information emerging from the pre-meeting to be fully prepared for the resident/church
meeting.
Resident A advised that residents feel that Place Studio are unable to provide the service
they were hoping for to have a fully inclusive meeting with the Church, and the proposed

Page 72

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 27

pre-meeting with this potential facilitator did not take place.
Resident A informed that the developer’s agent has since become involved on the church’s
behalf and is viewed as having creating constraints to the proposed residents meeting by
suggesting that it be online and take place as early as the week beginning 2 November 2020.
It is understood that new drawings have been prepared, which the residents have had no
opportunity to study and digest. There is a sense amongst residents that the consultation
process is again being controlled by the developer.
Resident A expressed the view that an online meeting with many residents is not a practical
option and would be a barrier to participation. A face-to-face meeting, possibly in a village
hall setting, is believed possible within current government Covid-19 guidelines, and this is
residents’ preferred option. A definitive definition of what is allowed under Covid-19
restrictions is awaited. A facilitator will have to be found. In response to a question from GJ
regarding Test Valley Borough Council’s offer of a Community Engagement Officer (CEO) to
facilitate the meeting, Resident A felt that a CEO would not have the required breadth of
knowledge of planning processes and procedures. GJ thanked Resident A for his input. GJ
informed that he had taken notes of the main points raised and would feed these into the
later discussion of item 8. 90/20 1.
8. 90/20 Planning
1. 20/01448/ Land West of All Saints Church, Church Lane.
NAK opened the discussion by referring to an email he had previously copied widely to
stakeholders. This proposed delaying the Parish Council’s decision on the application to give
time for the applicant to meet with residents to explore if any mitigations were possible to
address residents the concerns. The proposed meeting has not yet taken place.
NAK remained of the view that the Parish Council should delay a decision until its planning
committee meets on 19 November 2020. This date has been chosen to fit with Test Valley
Borough Council’s (TVBC) timetable, which requires a report to be prepared for its Southern
Area Planning Committee (SAPC) by 24 November 2020. TVBC SAPC will consider the
application 20/01448/FULLS on 8 December 2020.
GJ made NAK aware of the earlier discussion detailed at agenda item 5. 87/20 above and
invited Resident A to summarise the key points. NAK advised that Church Lane residents had
asked, due to his openly expressed views concerning the planning application, that he

Page 73

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 28
withdraw from further close involvement in arrangements for the proposed
applicant/residents meeting.
Notwithstanding this position, NAK expressed his willingness to help and to arrange for a
TVBC Community Engagement Officer to act as a facilitator. NAK expressed the view that
the issues raised at 5. 87/20 above are not material planning considerations that can be
considered by TVBC SAPC.
NAK pointed out that Hampshire County Council Highways (HCCH) has undertaken a traffic
impact assessment and as regards the community garden, he has previously recommended
that ownership ideally be transferred to parish council ownership to ensure its future
maintenance and management.
In response, Resident A took the view that the HCCH assessment focused solely on the
traffic impact of the new houses and does not consider the traffic impact arising from the
use of the church car park, and increased church community activity.
Resident A stressed that the issues raised by him at 5. 87/20 above are the concerns of the
community and are relevant 5/8 to the application as it has been brought forward under
Policy COM 9, ‘Community Led Development’, of TVBC Local Plan.
GJ brought the discussion to a close and suggested that the arrangements for the proposed
meeting between the applicant and residents now rests with the parties involved.
It was proposed that the Council’s response to this application be delayed until an
extraordinary planning meeting to be convened on Thursday, 19th November 2020.
RESOLVED.

Page 74

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 29

December 2020
Note: Extraordinary meeting of PC suggested in November minutes did not take place.
PC discuss Church Lane development. Note that attempts to arrange a meeting between
the applicant, developer and Church Lane residents, with an agreed facilitator had failed.
PC agree further efforts to be made to engage potential facilitators for a meeting.

MINUTES OF THE ONLINE MEETING OF AWBRIDGE PARISH
COUNCIL HELD ON THURSDAY, 3rd DECEMBER 2020 AT 7.30PM
8 members of the public present
8. 116/20 Planning
B. To receive an update on application 20/01448, land west of All Saints Church, Church
Lane.
PL updated on his efforts to source a facilitator for the residents’ meeting with the Church
and the developer. The mediator did not wish to proceed, feeling that the parties were not
at a stage where mediation was appropriate. The other person identified by PL was willing
to proceed. However, PL concluded that that although this individual had a planning
background, he did not have any experience of facilitation, and so was not right for this role.

NAK has circulated to Members a potential agenda for the residents’ meeting. If Council is
happy with this he will pass to the parties and let them come back with suggestions.
TVBC Community Officers are willing to facilitate at the meeting, or it may be better to
contact and organisation like Action with Communities in Rural England (ACRE). The clerk
offered to ask Action Hampshire to circulate to other Hampshire charities that may have
experience of facilitation.
NAK suggested that as many Members as possible should attend the residents meeting to
observe. Hopefully, the meeting can be organised in the next two weeks. Responsibility for
organising the meeting was discussed and it was agreed that the Council take this on. NAK
agreed to lead on this and to keep Members informed of progress.

Page 75

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 30
December 2020 - January 2021
Attempts to arrange a facilitator for a meeting between applicants, developer and Church
Lane residents through TVBC Communities Team failed, despite financial support through
councillors’ community grant scheme.
Further conversations with Church Lane Residents

January 2021
PC discuss Church Lane Development. Further

Minutes of the online Zoom meeting of the Council
held on Thursday, 14th January 2021 at 7.30pm
In attendance: 10 members of the public
8. 08/21 Planning
B. To further discuss application 20/01448, land west of All Saints Church, Church Lane.
NAK outlined the current situation. NAK had a useful conversation with a member of the
Church Lane Residents Group, when a range of issues were discussed, including a suggestion
that a way forward was a meeting between Church Lane residents and representatives of All
Saints Church only.
DC has carried out preparatory work in anticipation of a meeting which, it was emphasised,
would not form part of the formal planning consultation process. DC explained his hopes for
the meeting, which should take place in the week beginning 25 January to fit with the
planning process timetable.
Attendance will be limited to Church Lane residents who have concerns about the
development, and representatives of All Saints Church. Awbridge Parish Councillors may
also attend as observers only. In summary, this will be an informal community meeting with
those most affected by the development. It is hoped the meeting will aid understanding of
the position of each of the parties involved and will enable them to make changes that will
not compromise their respective positions. It may not prove possible to reach such a
position, however, ideas may emerge that can be put to the developer for consideration.

Page 76

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 31
There will be no obligation on anyone to be tied to anything. No solution will be ideal for
everyone. It will be helpful if as much preparatory work as possible is done in advance of the
meeting to ensure that the time available is put to best use. Anyone can contact DC in
furtherance of this end.
DC acknowledge that the above process should have taken place earlier in the process, but
felt we are where we are and should take this final opportunity to try and reach as amicable
a solution as possible.
GJ expressed concern that the developer will not be present at the meeting to deal directly
with suggestions for mitigation. DC felt the developers presence would not be conducive to
an informal community discussion. Points raised can be put to the developer via Church
representatives. If these are rejected by the developer, clear reasons should be given.
It was proposed that the Parish Council defer reaching a decision on this application until its
February 2021 meeting. RESOLVED

Page 77

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appendix 3
Page 32
January - February 2021

Two meetings held chaired by a Parish Councillor with members of the PC present as
observers. One between the applicant and Church Lane residents. The second between the
applicant, developer and Church Lane residents.
The PC acknowledged these meetings did not form part of the formal consultation for the
proposed development.
The developer agreed to bring forward revised plans as a result of concerns raised by
Church Lane residents at both meetings.

February 2021
PC discusses Church Lane Development once more and considered newly revised plans
submitted by the applicant and developer. Majority vote by PC members to support
proposed development.

Page 78

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

ITEM 8

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

AMENDMENTS
CASE OFFICER

21/00718/FULLS
FULL APPLICATION - SOUTH
01.04.2021
Mr Chris Rees
Holly Lodge, Chilworth Road, Chilworth, SO16 7JZ
CHILWORTH
Erection of nine residential dwellings consisting of five
apartments and four dwelling houses, with associated
vehicular access, parking areas and landscaping
Amended/Additional information received 26.06.21 &
01.09.21.
Mr Paul Goodman

Background paper (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
The application is presented to SAPC at the request of a local ward member
as it raises issues of more than local public interest.

2.0
2.1

SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION
The site lies within the settlement boundary of Chilworth, which the Revised
Local Plan describes as a Key Service Centre, and Chilworth is indicated on
Map 3.

2.2

The rear (southern) boundary abuts Chilworth Common, which comprises
mixed woodland Site of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC), whilst the
front (northern) boundary comprises the A27 Chilworth Road. Chilworth Village
Green and Playing Fields abut the western boundary, with residential property
and the Community Hall to the northwest.

2.3

The site measures 1.7 ha, and development access is proposed from the A27
Chilworth Road to the north. The site is approximately ‘L’ shaped, and
incorporates the dwelling house named Holly Lodge, and the land both to the
rear of Holly Lodge and to the rear of Heathfield.

3.0
3.1

PROPOSAL
The application proposes the erection of nine residential dwellings consisting
of five apartments and four dwelling houses, with associated vehicular access,
parking areas and landscaping.

4.0
4.1

HISTORY
16/00755/FULLS - Erection of 18 dwellings comprising 13 four bedroom
houses and 5 two bedroom apartments with associated access, garages,
parking and landscaping. Refused 30.06.2016. Appeal Dismissed 02.05.2017.

Page 79

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

5.0
5.1

CONSULTATIONS
Planning Policy & Transport – Comment;
 Policy COM2: Settlement Hierarchy – The site lies within the settlement
boundary of Chilworth. Within settlement boundaries the principle of
development will be permitted provided that it is appropriate to the other
policies of the Local Plan.
 Policy E4: Residential Areas of Special Character (RASC) –
Development within RASCs will be permitted provided that: a) the
resulting sizes of both the proposed and remainder of the original plot,
when subdivided, are not significantly smaller than those in the
immediate vicinity, and b) the development’s size, scale, layout, type,
siting and detailed design are compatible with the character of that
RASC.
 Within the RASC Appraisal work carried out to support the RASC SPD
Holly Lodge and neighbouring Heathfield were grouped together to
create character area Chilworth 1G, (Chilworth Road, (south side)) Holly
Lodge currently has a presumed plot size of 1.7Ha and neighbouring
Heathfield has a presumed plot size of 1.2Ha; the average plot size for
this character area is 1.45Ha.
 At a previous appeal for the same site the method to determine whether
those plots were significantly smaller which was agreed upon by the
Inspector was to calculate the plot sizes of the five properties within the
immediate vicinity of this site (across the road in character area
Chilworth 1B). Those plots varied in size between 0.1 ha – 0.4ha; this
proposed scheme would result in the reduction of the plot size of both
Holly Lodge and Heathfield with the land given over and divided into 5
plots ranging from 0.12 ha to 0.38 ha. As a result, the plot sizes for this
scheme would not be considered significantly smaller than those in the
immediate vicinity; and compliant with criterion a) of this policy.
 The guidance from the RASC Appraisal for this character area
specifically advocates maintaining generous separation distances
between existing dwellings, retaining tree cover within plots and keeping
the open character of the land to the south visible from the adjoining
public space. It is noted that the largest plot has been located to the
south west of the site facing the public space.
 As to whether it would accord with aspects of criterion b) of this policy,
the proposal is for two and a half storey buildings would include a mix of
detached houses and five apartments. At the previous appeal the
Inspector found: The size (excluding plot size), scale and type of
dwellings would not harm the special qualities of the RASC and these
elements of the proposal would accord with aspects of LP policy E4(b).
 There have previously been a number of applications for apartment
blocks which have been refused within the Chilworth RASC. Policy E4
b) requires the type of development in RASCs to be compatible with
their character. As noted within the RASC Appraisal, the type of
properties which make up the RASC and which are found along
Chilworth Road are substantial houses, not apartments. The fact that
the area is characterised by single dwellings makes for the low density
of development which is also a characteristic of the RASC.

Page 80

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

5.2

Planning & Building (Landscape) – Comment;
 Amendments to buffer zone required
 Condition detailed hard and soft landscape plans
 Condition detailed landscape management plan

5.3

Planning & Building (Trees) – Comments awaited on revised details

5.4

Planning & Building (Ecology) – Comments awaited on revised details

5.5

HCC Highways – No objection.

5.6

Housing & Environmental Health (Housing) – No objection subject to
affordable housing contribution in accordance with COM7.

5.7

Natural England - Natural England – No objection, subject to s106 to secure
nitrate mitigation.

5.8

HCC LLFA – Comment;
 The general principles are acceptable however the design, being
shallow soakaways, is stated to be supported by percolation testing but
this has not been provided. We ask that all infiltration testing is
undertaken in accordance with BRE365 including multiple tests
undertaken in succession and with locations / depths being
commensurate with the proposed design.

6.0
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS Expired 23.09.2021
Chilworth PC (29.04.21) – Objection;
 It offends the Borough’s Development Plan and Local Policies
 It seeks to obtain permission for a similar, albeit reduced, development
to a previously refused application
 The layout and density of building is contrary to the nature of the village
and adjoining properties
 It will have an adverse effect on the conservation area
 It will create increased traffic and noise and danger to pedestrians and
vehicles using Chilworth Road
 It will adversely impact on highway safety
 It is noted that the description of development does not specify the
precise number of bedrooms for each dwelling. The local planning
authority should amend the description of development to require a
specified number of bedrooms for each dwelling.
 Each application ought to be decided on its own merits and no planning
appeal ought to be treated as having a binding precedent effect.
 It cannot be said the Inspector’s views are irrelevant, yet they are no
longer pre-eminent. There is no requirement for the local planning
authority to eschew its own interpretation of emerging or settled policy
and adopt the approach of an Inspector in an appeal of almost four
years ago.

Page 81

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021














6.2

An important new material consideration is the Residential Areas of
Special Character Supplementary Planning Document (RASC SPD)
adopted on 23 January 2019. Planning decision are made using a
development plan led system, and in so far as the approach of the
Council or the Inspector might not accord with the RASC SPA then the
2017 analysis ought to be given limited weight. The appropriate plots in
the immediate vicinity to be used to judge compliance with Policy E4(a)
are not those agreed by the local planning authority and applicant and
endorsed in the Appeal Decision. Instead, the appropriate plots for
comparison are those identified in the RASC SPD.
The Inspector endorsed the Chilworth Village Design Statement
Supplementary Planning Document (CVDS SPD) because it was
recognised in paragraph 14 of the Appeal Decision that a key aspect of
character was “various house styles encompassing many periods of
domestic architecture”.
On character the Inspector rejected the previous proposal on three
bases. It would erode spacious settings; conflict with Policy E4(a);
conflict with the aims and objectives of the CVDS SPD. The new
proposal does not overcome these concerns
The proposed tree planting is incapable of mitigating the loss of a
coherent pattern of woodland or the loss of openness from the west
In respect of Policy E4(b) the Inspector concluded in paragraph 19 that
the Appeal Decision proposals “scale and type of dwellings would not
harm the special qualities of the RASC and these elements of the
proposal would accord with aspects of LP policy E4(b)”.
We urge the local planning authority to reject that analysis in respect of
the apartment mansion block. The relatively new RASC SPD indicates
key examples of where the size, scale, layout, type, siting and detailed
design of each dwelling is not compatible with the character area.
An offsite contribution is appropriate but in the unfortunate event
planning permission were granted an appropriately drafted legal
agreement under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 ought to secure concessions limiting marketing to local persons
and applying age restrictions in respect of any apartments on the site of
three bedrooms.

Chilworth PC (06.08.21) – Objection;
 It is evident that the Landscape Officer has found the scheme to be
poorly conceived with regard to the domination of the apartments at the
southern end of the site. The Parish Council considers the consultation
response not to be robust enough.
 The focus seems to be on the plot sizes and how these might
reasonably be assessed against the provisions of Policy E4 and the
RASC SPD. This does not address the fact that the quantum of
development is for 9 dwellings not simply 5 buildings.
 The Parish Council notes Natural England’s response. It asks for all
documentation relating to Nitrate Mitigation in respect of the Roke
Manor project in order to assess whether it meets the legal test and also
a copy of the negotiations between the Applicant and TVBC on this
point.

Page 82

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021





The Parish Council considers that Biodiversity Net Gain has not been
properly assessed or considered. It supports Natural England’s
comments and requests that an Ecological Impact Assessment is drawn
up.
The key points that must be considered in this application are the new
emphasis on ‘beauty’, the new design codes and the new environmental
requirements for development.

6.3

Hampshire Swifts – Comment;
 Support the ecologists recommendation for integrated bird bricks.
 However wish that the recommendations are amended to provide swift
bricks only and double the number.

6.4

6 representations of Objection received;
 Subdivision, plot size and apartments out of character and contrary to
local plan policy.
 Overdevelopment
 Safety, noise and pollution impact of the proposed access.
 Amenity impact of construction works.
 Impact of construction works on listed buildings.
 Loss of trees and impact on nature conservation
 Refusal of previous application
 Apartments would lose an opportunity for another family home.

7.0
7.1

POLICY
Government Guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

7.2

Test Valley Borough Local Plan 2016
COM2 (Settlement Hierarchy), E1 (High Quality Development in the Borough),
E2 (Protect, Conserve and Enhance the Landscape Character of the Borough),
E4 (Residential Areas of Special Character), E5 (Biodiversity), E7 (Water
Management), E8 (Pollution), E9 (Heritage), LHW1 (Public Open Space),
LHW4 (Amenity), T1 (Managing Movement), T2 (Parking Standard).

7.3

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD)
New Forest SPA Interim Framework
Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy
Residential Areas of Special Character (RASC) Appraisals – Chilworth
Chilworth VDS

8.0

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main planning considerations are the principle for development, housing
land supply, affordable housing, character of the area, highways, trees,
protected species & ecology, amenity, and drainage.

Page 83

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.1

Principle of Development
The site lies within the settlement area of Chilworth and therefore the principle
of development and re-development for housing is accepted in accordance
with policy COM2, subject to adherence with the other policies of the TVBRLP.

8.2

With regard to development in garden areas the NPPF states that “Local
planning authorities should consider the case for setting out policies to resist
inappropriate development of residential gardens, for example where
development would cause harm to the local area.” The Test Valley Borough
Council Revised Local Plan 2016 does not contain any policies specific to the
development of gardens and each are judged on their own merits.

8.3

The NPPF states that local planning authorities should encourage the effective
use of land by reusing land that has been previously developed (brownfield
land), provided that it is not of high environmental value. However the attached
glossary clarifies that residential gardens are excluded from the definition of
previously developed land.

8.4

Housing Land Supply
Section 5 of the NPPF relates to housing. Paragraph 73 of the NPPF requires
the Council to demonstrate a minimum of 5 years housing land supply (HLS)
with a 5% buffer. An assessment of the HLS position as at 30 November 2020
has been undertaken. This uses the housing requirement established in policy
COM1 and has regard to the conclusions of the Inspector’s Report on the
Examination of the Local Plan. The HLS position for Southern Test Valley, as
at 1 April 2019 is 5.26 years of supply. This is reported against a target of 5.00
years. The existence of a five year HLS enables the Council to give weight to
the policies of the adopted plan (in the context of footnote 7). The
demonstration of a five year HLS does not in itself cap development and any
application must be assessed on its merits.

8.5

Affordable Housing
Chilworth is classed as a designated rural area and therefore, under RLP
Policy COM7 (Affordable Housing) applies. Policy COM7 states that the
Council will negotiate on housing sites of 6 - 9 dwellings (or sites of 0.22 –
0.29ha) a financial contribution equivalent to up to 20% of dwellings to be
affordable. The above area of land is broadly equivalent to the size of site
(excluding constraints) reasonably expected to deliver the number of dwellings
in that step of the sliding scale, assuming an average density of development.
The purpose of the equivalent site area threshold is to avoid any applicant
being able to deliberately reduce the number of dwellings below a threshold
purely in order to reduce the amount of affordable housing able to be sought,
when in planning terms a higher number of dwellings could be appropriately
accommodated.

8.6

The site measures 1.4ha and is therefore far larger than 0.29ha and therefore
could provide a larger number of dwellings overall and thus a higher
percentage of Affordable Housing. However the Housing Officer has assessed
the proposals in the light of the previous applications and appeals and the
considerations around the number of dwellings and size of plots that this in
relation to the surrounding area/vicinity.

Page 84

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.7

In this case, as is discussed in more details below, the site is subject to
residential character designation and significant tree constraints which have
reduced the developable area below the threshold. As a result it is not
considered that there has been any deliberate effort to artificially reduce the
number of dwellings below the threshold. An increase in numbers to reach he
threshold of 11 dwellings to trigger on-site affordable housing would likely have
an adverse impact on the character of the site and/or protected trees and
ecology. As a result the number of dwellings falls below the trigger and the
developable area falls below the area threshold and the provision of on-site
affordable housing is not triggered.

8.8

Based upon the GDV the off-site financial contribution required will be
£340,414 (based upon 20% affordable housing contribution), to be secured via
S106 Legal Agreement (index linked RPI). Subject to the completion of the
legal agreement the proposals are considered to comply with policy COM7.

8.9

Character and Appearance

8.10 Residential Area of Special Character
The application site is situated within the Chilworth Residential Area of Special
Character (RASC). Policy E4 of the TVBRLP states that;
Development within residential areas of special character in Andover,
Chilworth and Romsey identified on maps 1, 2 and 3 will be permitted provided
that:
a) the resulting sizes of both the proposed and remainder of the original plot,
when sub-divided, are not significantly smaller than those in the immediate
vicinity; and
b) the development’s size, scale, layout, type, siting and detailed design are
compatible with the character of that Residential Area of Special Character.
8.11 Planning History
As indicated above (para 4.1) the site was the subject of a 2016 application for
development of 18 dwellings. That application was refused and subsequently
dismissed at appeal. The refusal/dismissal was in large part as result of the
previous schemes impact on the character of the RASC both in terms of plots
sizes (E4 a) and more detailed design elements (E4b). Whilst the current
scheme is significantly altered from the previous proposals, both in the
quantum of development and design, the Inspectors decisions provides useful
reference in considering the current proposals.
8.12 Residential Areas of Special Character (RASC) Appraisals – Chilworth
Subsequent to the determination of the appeal the Council has adopted a
Residential Areas of Special Character SPD (23rd January 2019) appraising
the Chilworth RASC. The purpose of the document is to provide advice on how
the Council will implement the Residential Areas of Special Character Policy
E4.

Page 85

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.13 The Special Character SPD divides the wider RASC into three broad areas
with further smaller areas identified within each. Area 1 is situated to the north
of the M3/M27 junctions and is split into 7 smaller areas (A-G). The application
site is situated within Character Area 1G. The character appraisal provides
details of plots sizes and the character features common to those properties
within the area.
8.14 E4a Plot Sizes
Plot sizes formed a substantial part of the consideration of the previous
application and its associated appeal. In considering this issue the Inspector
concluded that it was appropriate to compare proposed plot sizes to those in
the immediate vicinity. The Council, in defending the previous refusal,
calculated the plot sizes of five properties on the opposite side of the A27 to
the site and the Inspector concluded that these, as the nearest plots to the site
that lie within the RASC comprised a reasonable assessment of the immediate
vicinity for the purposes of LP policy E4. The sizes of the properties assessed
were between 0.1 ha and 0.4ha.
8.15 The current proposals result in plot sizes ranging from 0.12ha to 0.38ha,
although the largest plot size would be associated with the apartment block
rather than a single dwelling. For comparison the dismissed appeal plot sizes
ranged from 0.02ha to 0.14ha. The Inspector concluded that “that the majority
of the proposed plot sizes would be significantly smaller than those in the
immediate vicinity” and that “The proposal would erode the spacious settings
of the dwellings within the RASC and conflict with LP policy E4(a)”. However
the Inspector did conclude that the resulting plot sizes for the existing dwellings
would be in keeping with the five plots on the opposite side of the A27.
8.16 As is stated above the Special Character SPD was adopted after the appeal
and did not form part of the consideration. This is clearly a new material
consideration in the determination of the application. The assessment of Area
1G identifies an average plot size of 1.45ha. This size is notably large and is a
result of the entire Area 1G being comprised of two dwellings with large garden
areas to the south of the properties facing the highway.
8.17 Whilst there are other relevant character considerations resulting from the loss
of the open area to the south an assessment of the plot size character strictly
controlled to Area 1G and comprised of only two properties is considered to be
overly narrow and not reflective of the character of the RASC. For comparison
those properties on the opposite of the A27 considered by the Inspector to be
in the immediate vicinity fall within Area 1B which has an average plot size of
0.46ha.
8.18 The average plot size for each character area within Area 1 are as follows;

Page 86

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.19

Character Area
1A
1B
1C
1D
1E
1F
1G

Ave Plot Size
0.173
0.46
0.425
0.8
0.36
0.36
1.45

8.20 Criterion a) of Policy E4 requires that proposed plots are not significantly
smaller than those in the immediate vicinity. In determining the appeal the
Inspector concluded that “the majority of the proposed plot sizes would be
significantly smaller than those in the immediate vicinity”. It is agreed that the
smallest of the previously proposed plots (0.02ha) would clearly be significantly
smaller than those in the immediate vicinity by any assessment of individual
character areas or any combination of character areas with Area 1, or indeed
Area 1 as a whole.
8.21 However the revised scheme, having halved the number of dwellings, no
longer proposes plots so much smaller than the neighbouring character areas.
As indicated above it is not considered reasonable to limit the size comparison
to Area 1G as a result of the small number of properties and the size of the
existing plots which are almost double that of the next largest character area
average (1D) and far larger than the other character areas.
8.22 Generally those character areas comprised of fewer dwellings are also those
without any back land development and as a result have the larger plot sizes
(1D, 1G and the eastern part of 1B). However many of the Area 1 character
areas feature development set behind those dwellings adjacent the A27 and
have generally lower densities. The form of the development proposed would
not therefore be out of character with the other Area 1 areas.
8.23 The proposed plot sizes would be in line with the other character areas and are
not considered to be significantly smaller than those in the immediate vicinity
as required by criterion a) of Policy E4.
8.24 Size, scale, layout, type, siting and detailed design
The previously refused scheme not only proposed a far larger number of
dwellings but also a formal Georgian style of layout and design. Both the
Council and Inspector concluded that the mock Georgian style development
would contrast awkwardly with the character of the RASC. The Inspector
specifically noted the “the more unassuming, individually designed houses and
the ‘looser’ arrangement of buildings which contribute to the special qualities of
the area” and noted views from the playing fields to the west and paths through
the neighbouring woodland. The open space to the south and views form the
parkland are specifically referenced the RASC appraisal. It should be noted
that it is not clear which neighbouring woodland is referred to and that whilst
public access to the playing fields is available the nearest Public Rights of Way
within the woodland to the south is situated approximately 60m from the
application site at the nearest point limiting any public views.

Page 87

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.25 The current application has evolved considerably from the previous submission
on the basis of pre-application advice as stated in the submitted Design and
Access Statement. The number of dwellings has been reduced to 9, comprised
of 5 individual buildings. The resultant arrangement is far less formal than the
previous proposals and allows a far less regimented layout and retention of
larger areas of garden and trees about the dwellings. The layout of the site
would still result in public views of development from the adjacent park and
within the previously open area but the impact is much reduced from the
previous scheme and far less formal.
8.26 Concern has also been raised with regard to the scale of the proposed
dwellings, specifically the inclusion of third second floor accommodation.
However second floor accommodation in roof spaces are not at all uncommon
in the Chilworth RASC and the size and scale of the proposed dwellings are
not considered to be out of keeping with the surrounding area. The Inspector
also concluded that “The proposed two and a half storey buildings would
include a mix of detached, semi-detached houses and five apartments. The
size (excluding plot size), scale and type of dwellings would not harm the
special qualities of the RASC and these elements of the proposal would accord
with aspects of LP policy E4(b).”
8.27 Representations have also referenced the proposed apartments as not being
of a ‘type’ of development compatible with the RASC as is required by Policy
E4. In terms of the layout and scale the built form of the apartment block is not
considered to be out of keeping with the RASC. Whilst purpose built
apartments are not a feature of Area 1 there are other large buildings within
Chilworth that have been converted to apartments and care facilities. Whilst
many of these are outside of the RASC area the designation is not considered
to exclude or override the aims of the local plan and NPPF to create diverse
communities. The proposed block for a small number of apartments is
considered an appropriate solution to the need to provide a wider variety of
dwellings sizes in the locality.
8.28 As indicated in the RASC appraisal, Chilworth VDS and the Inspectors
decision dwellings in Chilworth are generally individually designed and of a
wide variety of ages and styles. The proposed dwellings address the previous
concerns and are individually well designed and more importantly fit well with
the character of the RASC. Subject to details of materials to be secured by
condition the scale, layout, type, siting and detailed design of proposed
dwellings is considered appropriate and accords with criterion b) of Policy E4
and the more general design standards required by Policy E1, the Chilworth
VDS and the NPPF.
8.29 Arboriculture
The application site is covered by numerous group and individual preservation
orders and the previous application was refused/dismissed in part due to the
impact of the development on protected trees.

Page 88

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.30 The reduction in the number of dwellings has allowed for a development that
has reduced the extent of the required tree loss, reduced pressure on exiting
trees and allows more space for new tree planting. However tree loss is still
required and the Arboricultural Officer has advised that development here
places new housing in closer proximity than the existing dwellings and the
relatively smaller plots will increase pressure on the TPO’d trees.
8.31 However the Arboricultural Officer has concluded that the proposed dwellings
provide acceptable separations from exiting trees. Proposed garages approach
trees / encroach RPAs and are acceptable subject to strict adherence to tree
protection measures as set out in submitted arb report/method statement.
8.32 The Arboricultural Officer has requested some revisions to the submitted tree
protection measures in relation to the access drive, specifically the extension
of a route bridge to include a second area of conflict in proximity to B grade
Beech tree T18. The Arboricultural Officer also required further details
regarding service installation and routing in relation to existing and new tree
planting.
8.33 Revised arboricultural information has been received to address these points.
The Arboricultural Officers comments are awaited at the time of reporting and it
is recommended that the decision is delegated back to the Head of Planning
and Building for receipt of those comments and any necessary
amended/additional conditions.
8.34 Highways
Representations have raised concerns with regard to the safety of the
proposed access to the A27, access for refuse vehicles and the impact of
additional vehicle movements on the highways network. However the
Highways Officer has raised no objection to the proposed development and
has stated that the access is suitable for the proposed use and that the
development would not generate a level of vehicle movements that would have
any adverse impact. In addition the application is supported by tracking details
showing suitable space to accommodate a refuse vehicle. It is also noted that
no highways reason for refusal was applied to the previous larger scheme.
8.35 The proposed parking arrangement would meet the required standard and,
subject to further conditions requiring the retention of parking and restricting
the location of any gates, the proposed scheme is considered to have no
significant detrimental impact on highways or pedestrian safety and accords
with the relevant T policies of the TVBRLP 2016.
8.36 Biodiversity & Protected Species
This application is supported by an Ecological Assessment (Peach Ecology,
February 2021). The report is based on the initial surveys conducted by
Lowans Ecology & Associates in 2015/2016 for the previous application on
site, and subsequent updated walkover surveys in 2019 and 2020.

Page 89

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.37 Protected Species
Bat activity surveys previously undertaken by Lowans Ecology & Associates in
2016, in which common pipistrelles, soprano pipistrelles and serotine bats
were recorded. CIEEM guidelines outline that ecological surveys over 3 years
old are not likely to be considered valid. The Ecology Officer has advised that
updated bat activity surveys would be required to support the current planning
application, in line with best practice guidelines issued by the Bat Conservation
Trust (Collins, 2016).
8.38 Site of Importance for Nature Conservation
The site is adjacent to Chilworth Woodland Site of Importance for Nature
Conservation (SINC). Concerns have previously been raised regarding the
impact of the proposed development on this protected site, for example
through the impact of fly-tipping, recreational access, pressure on boundary
trees and drainage. To address this a buffer zone of native species planting
has been proposed along the southern, east and west boundary. Whilst this
feature is welcomed the Ecology Officer has requested further details
regarding the ongoing management of this buffer zone and the suitability of the
proposed planting.
8.39 Revised ecological information has been received to address these points. The
Ecology Officers comments are awaited at the time of reporting and it is
recommended that the decision is delegated back to the Head of Planning and
Building for receipt of those comments and any necessary amended/additional
conditions.
8.40 Solent and Southampton Water SPA – Solent Neutrality
There is existing evidence of high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus in the
water environment across the Solent, with evidence of eutrophication at some
designated sites. An Integrated Water Management Study for South
Hampshire was commissioned by the Partnership for Urban South Hampshire
(PUSH) Authorities to examine the delivery of development growth in relation
to legislative and government policy requirements for designated sites and
wider biodiversity. This work has identified that there is uncertainty regarding
whether any new housing development does not contribute to net increases in
nutrients entering these designated sites.
8.41 As such, the emerging advice from Natural England is that the applicants for
development proposals resulting in a net increase in dwellings are required to
submit the nitrogen budget for the development to demonstrate no likely
significant effect on the European designated sites due to the increase in
waste water from the new housing.
8.42 In support of the proposed development the applicant has submitted a
proposed offsite mitigation strategy. The proposed strategy comprises the
removal of land within and off site agricultural holding from future agricultural
production. The applicant has advised that the site (Freehold land known as
'Roke Manor Farm', Old Salisbury Lane, Romsey, SO31 0GD compromising
40.4.hectares. Title Number HP 425557.) is provided by Ovington Estates who

Page 90

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

have an agreement in place to allow the issue of credits. The use of the
mitigation land and management are to be secured by s106 legal agreement.
Subject to the completion of the required agreements the development will
therefore not result in adverse effects on the Solent designated site through
water quality impacts arising from nitrate generation.
8.43 New Forest SPA
The development will result in a net increase in residential dwellings within
13.6km of the New Forest SPA. This distance defines the zone identified by
recent research where new residents would be considered likely to visit the
New Forest. The New Forest SPA supports a range of bird species that are
vulnerable to impacts arising from increases in recreational use of the Forest
that result from new housing development. While clearly one new house on its
own would not result in any significant effects, it has been demonstrated
through research, and agreed by Natural England that any net increase (even
single or small numbers of dwellings) would have a likely significant effect on
the SPA when considered in combination with other plans and projects.
8.44 To address this issue, Test Valley Borough Council has adopted a strategy
whereby a scale of developer contributions has been agreed that would fund
the delivery of measures to address these issues. With respect to the New
Forest, a new strategic area of alternative recreational open space is being
delivered that would offer the same sort of recreational opportunities as those
offered by the New Forest. Subject to the completion of the required
agreements to secure the contribution the development will not result in
adverse effects on the New Forest designated site through increased
recreational pressure.
8.45 Solent and Southampton Water SPA
It has been identified that certain new developments within 5.6km of the Solent
SPA designations, including the Solent and Southampton Water SPA, are
likely to have a significant effect when considered in combination. Specifically
new residential development has the potential to impact on this designation in
relation to disturbance of the bird species through the recreational use of the
area.
8.46 To address this issue, Test Valley Borough Council has adopted a strategy
whereby a scale of developer contributions has been agreed that would fund
the delivery of measures to address these issues. With respect to the Solent
and Southampton Water SPA, the Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy sets
out the approach to providing mitigation. Mitigation would need to be provided
either through a financial contribution, or a bespoke mitigation package, as set
out within the Strategy. In this case a financial contribution would be
appropriate. Subject to the completion of the required agreement to secure the
contribution the development will not result in adverse effects on the Solent
and Southampton Water designated site through increased recreational
pressure.

Page 91

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.47 Amenities of neighbouring properties
Policy LHW4 of the RLP sets a number of criteria against which development
proposals will be assessed in order to safeguard the amenity of existing and
future residents, particularly in terms of overlooking, loss of privacy and any
adverse impact in terms of loss of daylight/sunlight.
8.48 Given the separation to the nearest residential properties, the location of new
fenestration, combined with the recreational uses of some of the adjacent land,
the proposed development is considered to have no adverse impact on
neighbouring residential amenity as a result of overlooking, overbearing or
overshadowing impact.
8.49 Impact during construction works
Representations have raised concern with regard to the impact of noise, mud
and dust during construction works. Whilst some degree of disturbance is
inevitable during construction work conditions can be applied to limit the hours
of construction and to require an environmental management plan to limit
amenity impacts. Subject to the required conditions the proposed development
is considered to have no significant adverse impact on amenity and complies
with TVBRLP Policies LHW4 and E8.
8.50 Drainage and Flood Risk
The application has been supported by a Detailed Surface Water Drainage
Arrangement. Following review of the additional information the LLFA have
raised no objection to the drainage principles but have requested some further
detailed information. Subject to condition that development be constructed in
accordance with those details to be submitted and approved the proposed
development is not considered to result in adverse flood risk and complies with
TVBRLP Policy E7.
8.51 Water management
The 2016 Local Plan includes a requirement in policy E7 to achieve a water
consumption standard of no more than 100 litres per person today. This
reflects the requirements of part G2 of the 2015 Building Regulations. In the
event that planning permission was to be recommended a condition would be
applied in order to address this. Subject to such a condition the proposal would
comply with policy E7.
8.52 Economic Benefits
Whilst the residential proposals are not a commercial enterprise there are
economic benefits associated with the development works and the future
occupiers of the dwellings. These are matters that should be afforded weight in
the planning balance.
8.53 Planning Balance
Overall, the proposal would provide homes within a settlement and add to the
diversity of housing stock in Chilworth. The housing would therefore be a
public benefit. In addition the proposals result in a substantial financial
contribution to affordable housing.

Page 92

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

8.54 In economic terms the proposal would provide construction jobs during its build
out. These jobs would be transitory and only moderate weight can be afforded
to this point. Furthermore, the new properties would result in people living in
the village and the associated spending by these people in the local economy
is also a benefit of the scheme.
8.55 As identified earlier, majority of the works are considered to have an
acceptable relationship with the character of the RASC and surrounding area
and Policy E4. The RASC appraisal advocates the retention of the open space
to the rear of the existing dwellings and the view of this space form the
adjacent public open space. However, as was identified by the previous
inspector and the Council the principle of development on this site has been
agreed. Views of the development would be far more in keeping with the
RASC than the previously refused scheme and any increased prominence of
development in those views is considered to be outweighed by the benefits of
the proposals. The proposal would, therefore, accord with both Local and
national planning policies.
9.0
9.1

CONCLUSION
The location of the site in a sustainable location and acceptable in principle.
Potential concerns with regard to the impact protected species and biodiversity
have been resolved. Subject to securing the required conditions and s106
obligations the proposed development is considered acceptable.

10.0 RECOMMENDATION
10.1 Delegate to Head of Planning & Building for completion of satisfactory
consultation with Ecology and Arboricultural Officers and the
addition/amendment of relevant conditions, and legal agreement to
secure;
 Removal of nitrate mitigation land from agricultural production
 Future management of the nitrate mitigation land, and
 New Forest SPA contribution.
 Solent and Southampton Water SPA contribution.
 Affordable housing contribution.
Then PERMISSION subject to:
1.
The development hereby permitted shall be begun within three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 91 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2.
No development shall take place above DPC level of the
development hereby permitted until samples and details of the
materials to be used in the construction of all external surfaces
hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out
in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the development has a satisfactory external
appearance in the interest of visual amenities in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1.

Page 93

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

3.

4.

5.

6.

The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in full
accordance with the provisions set out within the Arboricultural
Impact Appraisal and Method Statement, Report reference number:
AIA/AMS-KC/AH/HOLLY/001 Revision A and its accompanying Tree
Protection Plan.
Reason: To ensure the enhancement of the development by the
retention of existing trees and natural features during the
construction phase in accordance with Test Valley Borough
Revised Local Plan policy E2.
Tree protective measures installed (in accordance with the tree
protection condition) shall be maintained and retained for the full
duration of works or until such time as agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority. No activities, nor material storage, nor
placement of site huts or other equipment what-so-ever shall take
place within the barrier.
Reason: To ensure the avoidance of damage to existing trees and
natural features during the construction phase in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan policy E2.
All service routes, drain runs, soakaways or excavations in
connection with the development hereby permitted shall remain
wholly outside the tree protective barrier.
Reason: To ensure the avoidance of damage to existing trees and
natural features during the construction phase in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan policy E2.
No development shall take place above DPC level until full details
of hard and soft landscape works have been submitted and
approved. Details shall include-where appropriate: proposed
finished levels or contours; means of enclosure; car parking
layouts; other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas;
hard surfacing materials; minor artefacts and structures (e.g.
furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage units, signs,
lighting, etc.); proposed and existing functional services above and
below ground (e.g. drainage, power, communications cables,
pipelines etc. indicating lines, manholes, supports.); retained
historic landscape features and proposals for restoration, where
relevant.
Soft landscape works shall include: planting plans; written
specifications (including cultivation and other operations
associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules of
plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed
numbers/densities. The soft landscape proposals shall include
details of soft boundary treatments to the outside edges of the site.
The landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
implementation programme and in accordance with the
management plan.
Reason: To improve the appearance of the site and enhance the
character of the development in the interest of visual amenity and
contribute to the character of the local area in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1 and E2.

Page 94

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

12.

The development shall not be occupied until space has been laid
out and provided for the parking and manoeuvring of vehicles to
enable them to enter and leave the site in a forward gear in
accordance with the approved plan and this space shall thereafter
be reserved for such purposes at all times.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy T1.
Any gates shall be set back at least 4.5 metres from the edge of the
carriageway of the adjoining highway.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy T1.
Prior to the commencement of development full details of the
layout for the parking and manoeuvring onsite of contractor's and
delivery vehicles during the construction period shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the
commencement of development and retained for the duration of the
construction period.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Local Plan 2016 policy T1.
There shall be no construction or demolition works, no machinery
shall be operated, no processes carried out and no deliveries
received or dispatched outside the following times: 07:30 to 18:00
hours Monday to Friday and 08:00 to 13:00 hours on Saturday. In
addition, no such activities shall take place on Sundays, Bank or
Public holidays.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of neighbouring properties
in accordance with Test Valley Borough Local Plan policies E8 and
LWH4.
The development hereby approved shall be designed and built to
meet Regulation 36 2 (b) requirement of 110 litres/person/day water
efficiency set out in part G2 of Building Regulations 2015.
Reason: In the interests of improving water usage efficiency in
accordance with policy E7 of the Test Valley Borough Revised
Local Plan 2016
Notwithstanding the submitted information no development shall
take place until details of foul and surface water drainage have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority. Details submitted for
approval must include a technical summary, detailed drainage
drawings and detailed drainage calculations.
Details for the long-term maintenance arrangements for the surface
water drainage system shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the first occupation
of any of the dwellings. The submitted details shall include;
a. Maintenance schedules for each drainage feature type and
ownership.
b. Details of protection measures.
Maintenance and protection measures shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.

Page 95

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and in the
interest of local amenities in accordance with Test Valley Borough
Revised Local Plan 2016 policy E7.
13. Development shall proceed in accordance with the ecological
mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures detailed
within the Ecological Assessment, Report Number: 0291, Issue
Number: 02 (27th August 2021) unless otherwise agreed in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. Ecological mitigation,
compensation and enhancement features shall be created/installed
as per ecologists instructions and retained in perpetuity in a
condition suited for their intended purpose.
Reason: To protect biodiversity in accordance with the
Conservation Regulations 2017, Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981,
the NERC Act (2006), NPPF and with Policy E5 of the Test Valley
Borough Council Adopted Local Plan 2011-2029.
14. No development shall take place unless or until an Environmental
Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing
by, the Local Planning Authority. The Environmental Management
Plan shall cover the control of noise, dust and spoil during the
demolition, site preparation and construction phases of
development. The Environmental Management Plan shall include
the provision of wheel washing, and any other suitable facility, to
avoid the deposit of spoil onto the highway network. Work shall be
undertaken in accordance with the approved Environmental
Management Plan.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of neighbouring
properties in accordance with Test Valley Borough Local Plan
policies E8 and LWH4.
15. Details of any external lighting shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the local planning authority prior to first installing any
such lighting before the building(s) is/are occupied. Development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the area and/or in the
interests of road safety in accordance with Test Valley Borough
Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E8.
16. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except
in complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted
plans, numbers:
521 – 0102
1046-PSL-00
1046-PSL-01 3
1046-BINS-PL500
1046-BINS-PL200
1046-GATE-PL500
1046-01-PL201
1046-02-06-PL201
1046-07-PL201
1046-08-PL201
1046-09-PL201
1046-01-PL500

Page 96

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

17.

1046-02-061046-08-PL500
1046-09-PL500
1046-07-PL500
1046-GAR09-PL500
1046-GAR02-06-PL500
1046-GAR-PL200
1046-02-06-PL204
1046-01-PL200
1046-02-06-PL200
1046-07-PL200
1046-08-PL200
1046-09-PL200
1046-07-PL502
1046-09-PL502
1046-08-PL502
1046-01-PL502
1046-02-06-PL502
1046-01-PL203
1046-02-06-PL203
1046-07-PL203
1046-08-PL203
1046-09-PL203
1046-01-PL202
1046-07-PL202
1046-08-PL202
1046-09-PL202
1046-02-06-PL202
1046-08-PL503
1046-09-PL503
1046-01-PL501
1046-02-06-PL501
1046-07-PL503
1046-01-PL503
1046-07-PL501
1046-02-06-PL503
1046-08-PL501
1046-09-PL501
ITB11370-GA-005
ITB11370-GA-002
ITB11370-GA-001
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.
Before the development hereby permitted is commenced details,
including plans and cross sections, shall be submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority of the existing and
proposed ground levels of the development and the boundaries of
the site and the height of the ground floor slab and damp proof
course in relation thereto. Development shall be undertaken in
accordance with the approved details.

Page 97

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Reason: To ensure satisfactory relationship between the new
development and the adjacent residential dwellings, and amenity
areas in accordance with Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan
(2016) Policy E1 and LHW4.
18. Prior to commencement, a detailed scheme of biodiversity
enhancements to be incorporated into the development and an
ongoing management strategy for the site, including the buffer
areas, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. This should include planting plans, landscape
plan and a long-term management plan (minimum 10 years).
Development shall subsequently proceed in accordance with the
approved details, with photographic evidence provided to the Local
Planning Authority within 6 months of occupation.
Reason: To enhance biodiversity in accordance with NPPF and the
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 and with
Policy E5 of the Test Valley Revised Local Plan DPD 2011-2029.
Notes to applicant:
1.
Please ensure that all development/works complies with the
approved plans. Any changes must be advised and agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority before they are carried
out. This may require the submission of a new planning
application. Failure to do so may result in enforcement
action/prosecution.
2.
In reaching this decision Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) has
had regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and takes a
positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused
on solutions. TVBC work with applicants and their agents in a
positive and proactive manner offering a pre-application advice
service and updating applicants/agents of issues that may arise in
dealing with the application and where possible suggesting
solutions.
3.
Bats and their roosts receive strict legal protection under the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as
amended). All work must stop immediately if bats, or evidence of
bat presence (e.g. droppings, bat carcasses or insect remains), are
encountered at any point during this development. Should this
occur, further advice should be sought from Natural England and/or
a professional ecologist.
4.
Birds' nests, when occupied or being built, receive legal protection
under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). It is
highly advisable to undertake clearance of potential bird nesting
habitat (such as hedges, scrub, trees, suitable outbuildings etc.)
outside the bird nesting season, which is generally seen as
extending from March to the end of August, although may extend
longer depending on local conditions. If there is absolutely no
alternative to doing the work in during this period then a thorough,

Page 98

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

careful and quiet examination of the affected area must be carried
out before clearance starts. If occupied nests are present then work
must stop in that area, a suitable (approximately 5m) stand-off
maintained, and clearance can only recommence once the nest
becomes unoccupied of its own accord.

Page 99

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021
Conifers
4

Ridge House

WO

OD

E
S ID

Tarn
The Winters
The Old Vicarage
The Garden House
Acorn House

Robin Hill

Tree Tops

Clearview

Oakmount

Morningside

1

The Glade

Cheriton
CR
ES
WOODSIDE
C

EN

T

Redwoods
A 27

War
Memorial
TCB

Chilworth
Court
Chilworth
Lodge

91.4m
The Chilworth Arms
(PH)

21

Draycott
Fieldgate

CH
I

Cedar Hayes
LW

26
OR
TH

CL
O

2
4 1
3
Fern Grove

Hurstwood
91.1m

Holly Lodge

CHIL
W

Hall

SE

OR T

H RO

AD

5

Heathfield
1

Tennis
Court
4

Play Area
Playing Field

87.7m

The Squirrels
El Sub Sta

Pa

th

(u

m

)

86.0m

Orchard House

Fairlawn

Clouds Hill

Issues

RO
M
AN
RO
AD

Chilworth Common

87.5m

N

Siteplan

REPRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING
WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF
HER MAJESTY’S STATIONERY OFFICER © CROWN COPYRIGHT.
UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT
AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.
TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL LICENCE No. 100024295 2013

21/00718/FULLS
Page 100

02-06

BIN STORE

01

A3

Page 101

08

07

Chil

50
40
30
10
0

20

25
0

SITE PLAN

wort

h Ro
ad

09

N

0

1

2

50

3

4

5

75 100 125

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 102

20m

Bee post

Hedgehog box

hb

Neat log pile

Area below existing trees - selectively retain
existing groundcover with some areas of long
grass

Drifts of native flowering bulbs

Wildflower grass - seeded

Mown grass - turf

Low shrubs and groundcover

Proposed hedge - ‘Instant’ hedge where noted
Native mix favoured

3m wide native buffer planting to SINC

Clipped evergreen specimen

Large multi-stemmed or shaped specimen

Small tree or fruit tree

Proposed feathered tree (1.75-2.0m)

Proposed selected standard tree (3.0-3.5m)

Existing understorey/hedge retained

F

Chilworth Village Green

Existing tree retained & protected (see Tree
Report by Technical Arboriculture)

15

bp

10

Insect hotel

lp

5

ih

KEY

0

North

Oak 15m

lp

hb

U

ih

R

E1

V

H1

Scots Pine and Birch 15m

Oak 15m

lp

R

G1

F1

A1

Z

D1

Bins

E1

P

P

G

G

Birch
19m

B1

B1

Q

hb

Beech

Plot 8

Plot 7

K

Birch 16m

Established Pine & Birch woodland

Chilworth Common

Scots Pine and Birch 15m

J1

C1

M

Yew 8m

B

N

G1

Q

Beech14m

Beech16m

Pines 12m

C1

lp

Oak 11m

Q

Birch, Pine, Beech &
Oaks 16 - 20m

Beech16m

B

J1

D1

P

C1

Scots Pine and Birch 15m

F1

G

K

hb

Birch 16m

Birch 17m

Birch 19m

Holly Lodge

Holly Lodge

E1

Holm
Oak 5m

Pine 19m

A

G1

Plot 9

B1

Larch 11m

Oak 10m

Dogwood & Laurel 2-4m
(offsite)

Birch

Oaks

Oak 21m

J1

G1

Oaks 14m

E1

Pine 18m

F1

Willow
3m

Scots Pine and Birch 15m

Yew 7m

CHILWORTH COMMON
Established Pine &
Birch woodland

Heathfield

Road

Pines 13m

orth

Chilw















See legend notes

Existing & Proposed 1.8m high closeboard
timber fence (allow for hedgehog gaps in gravel boards)

The developer/client shall be responsible for ensuring foundation design accommodates all

Proposed 1.2m high split timber post & rail fence
with stockproof mesh attached

nesting season is generally from 1 March until 31 July. Vegetation or site clearance should be
done outside of the nesting season

Contractor shall check for nesting birds before commencing clearance before the end of July. Bird

proposed and existing tree planting with reference to the current NHBC guidance

replacement of failures (to the original Specification) in the planting season following failure.
Particular attention given to watering trees during prolonged dry spells.

Natural stone slabs

G

D

Architects

L t d

Date: August 2021

C Copyright TGD Landscape Ltd

521 - 0102

NUMBER

by: TG
DRAWING

Drawn

Scale: 1:400 @ Ao

Landscape Strategy Plan

DRAWING

For Alfred Homes

Holly Lodge
Chilworth
Southampton

PROJECT

Landscape

L a n d s c a p e

10 North End Close,
Chandlers Ford,
Eastleigh, Hampshire,
SO53 3HY
Mobile: 07974 900280
tgdlandscape@googlemail.com

Chartered

T

Limit impact of new access on Chilworth Road streetscene

Specify range of attractive surfacing and enclosure details to lift the quality of the
external realm & to create distinctive site character

Create new wildlife corridors with substantial stretches of new native hedge planting

Protect landscape setting of Chilworth Village Green and Chilworth Common SINC

Retain majority of existing trees and hedges of value and enhance with new tree and
hedge planting

Soften potential views from the west into the site from Chilworth Village Green and
Manor Road

Design a landscape layout that creates an attractive setting for the new dwellings

Minimum topsoil depths to be: Trees 1 x 1 x 0.8m pit, Shrubs, Groundcover, Hedging and Climbers

Contractor shall establish location of all services & drainage before starting any work.

accordance with BS5837:2012.

All existing trees & planting to be retained within or adjacent the site shall be protected in

GENERAL NOTES

Pines 20m

Retain existing Beech hedge to frontage of Holly Lodge
Proposed 1.8m high ‘Instant’ evergreen or Beech hedge to create secure boundary
to Holly Lodge and to improve view along drive
5.5m wide bitmac road with sett edger. Gateway set back from main road by 10m to
allow for vehicles waiting to access site
Existing 2m high clipped Cypress hedge. Good screen - retain
Gateway feature set back from Chilworth Road by 10m. Feature brick piers
with automated steel gates and strip of setts to slow traffic. Consider LED uplighters
to base of piers
3 no. proposed small trees to improve setting of driveway (o/s by negotiation with
Holly Lodge)
Proposed access road - black bitmac with granite sett edgings, possibly with
buff chippings rolled into wearing course.
No-dig construction where drive passes close/under crown spread of retained trees
(See Tree Report for details)
Tree planting to soften boundary to ‘Hurstwood’. Trees arranged in random
group to re-create natural effect. Mix of Pine and Birch
Areas under retained trees - fenced off during construction to ensure existing
grass/groundcover retained undisturbed.
Vigorous evergreen ground cover and low shrubs to mark arrivals
Mown grass strip along edge of drive for neatness (maximum 2m wide)
Narrow strip in front of new ‘Instant’ hedge planted up with vigorous evergreen
ground cover
1m high native mix hedges to define front Plot boundaries
Tree planting throughout the development to be a mix of feathered and standard
trees arranged in informal groups in keeping with the character and setting of the
site - Mix of Oak, Pine, Birch and Wild Cherry
1.8m high native mix ‘Instant’ hedge along western boundary to protect setting of
Chilworth Green (shade tolerant species only below existing retained trees)
Existing trees (mainly Oaks) retained along western boundary as they provide
valuable screening
Proposed Oak and Pine trees to soften views from Village Green
Ecology area - rough groundcover/shade tolerant wildflower grass, plus native
shrubs. Ideal location for log piles, insect hotel and hedgehog house. Area fenced
with shockproof mesh with mesh gate to prevent access by dogs
1m high native mix hedges to soften views of drive and parking bays
Drive and parking bays - pcc blocks - colour and type to be agreed
Contrasting colour of blocks or sawn cut setts
Clipped evergreen pyramids and groundcover
Shaped specimens and groundcover either side of main doors
3 no. small trees in island planter with groundcover below
Reinforced buff gravel surface to parking courts with pegged steel or timber edge
Focal specimen tree - Deodar Cedar, Sweet Gum or Tulip Tree
‘Fingers’ of new tree planting extend into the site to create extension of Pine and
Birch woodland on Chilworth Common SINC
3m wide strip of native mix planting to create buffer to adjacent SINC - mix of
Hawthorn, Hazel and Blackthorn. Shade tolerant wildflower grass and drifts of
native bulbs planted along base of planting
Proposed 1.8m high closeboard timber fence to prevent tipping of garden waste into
SINC
1.2m high post and three rail fence with stockproof mesh to prevent access by dogs
Rear of apartment garages - area of wildflower grass for biodiversity
Native mix hedges along rear garden boundaries to create additional wildlife
corridors

All paths 0.9 x 0.6m natural stone slabs

Note:

G1
H1
J1

F1

E1

V
W
X
Y
Z
A1
B1
C1
D1

T
U

S

R

P
Q

L
M
N

K

J

H

G

F

D
E

C

A
B

LEGEND NOTES

LANDSCAPE DESIGN PRINCIPLES

Establishment maintenance for 12 months for all planting to include weed control, watering and

V

Z

X

Q

B1

K

Birch 20m

H

G

H

J

G

F

B

A27

Blocks - colour to be agreed

Y

Plots 2-6

J1

R

Plot 1

P

lp

hb

M

K

Pines 20m

D

L

E

400mm, Grass 150mm. All depths assume topsoil laid over clean subsoil. All imported topsoil to
BS 3882:2007 multipurpose grade. Sample of topsoil to be approved before delivery to site

Pine 17m

W

Pine 20m

Oak 12m

Pine 19m

Pine 17m

Pine 20m

Birch 17m

Oak 19m

Birch 19m

Hurstwood

Oak 16m

Yew 8m

C

Beech hedge 2.5m

Bitmac with sett edgings and buff chips

Area of no-dig construction along driveway to
protect existing retained trees (see Tree Report
for details)

Reinforced buff gravel private drives (‘Nidagravel
or similar) with pinned steel edging

Strip of granite setts

Pine 14m

Oak 12m

S

Oak 13m

bp

T

Oak 16m

S

Oak 9m

Chilworth Village
Hall

Fern Grove

D

Yew 11m

Beech 14m

n.

Drawing to be read with Architects Layout and Tree Report by Technical
Arboriculture

mi
10
m

NOTE:

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

PLOT 01 - FRONT ELEVATION

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 103

PLOT 01 - SIDE ELEVATION

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 104

PLOTS 02-06 - FRONT ELEVATION

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 105

PLOTS 02-06 - REAR ELEVATION

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 106

PLOTS 02-06 - SIDE ELEVATION

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 107

STUDY

MASTER

Page 108

BED

PLOTS 02-06 - GROUND FLOOR PLANS

BED

03

MASTER

STUDY

/DINING

/DINING

02

KITCHEN / FAMILY

KITCHEN / FAMILY

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

STUDY

MASTER

Page 109

BED

PLOTS 02-06 - FIRST FLOOR PLANS

BED

05

MASTER

STUDY

/DINING

/DINING

04

KITCHEN / FAMILY

KITCHEN / FAMILY

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 110

/DINING

PLOTS 02-06 - SECOND FLOOR PLAN

KITCHEN / FAMILY

BED 3

06

STUDY

BED 2

MASTER

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

PLOT 07 - FRONT ELEVATION

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 111

PLOT 07 - REAR ELEVATION

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 112

PLOT 08 - FRONT ELEVATION

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 113

PLOT 08 - REAR ELEVATION

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 114

PLOT 09 - FRONT ELEVATION

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 115

PLOT 09 - REAR ELEVATION

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Page 116

Page 117

EAST ELEVATION

SOUTH ELEVATION

PLOTS 02-06 - GARAGE ELEVATIONS

WEST ELEVATION

NORTH ELEVATION

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

02
Page 118

PLOTS 02-06 - GARAGE PLANS

03

04

05

06

06

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appeal Decision
Hearing held on 5 April 2017
Site visits made on 4 and 5 April 2017
by Neil Pope

BA (Hons) MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government
Decision date: 2nd May 2017

Appeal Ref: APP/C1760/W/16/3159869
Land at Holly Lodge and the rear of Heathfield, Chilworth Road, Chilworth,
Hampshire, SO16 7JZ.





The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by Mr Bailey of Alfred Homes Ltd against the decision of Test Valley
Borough Council (the LPA).
The application Ref. 16/00755/FULLS, dated 30 March 2016, was refused by notice
dated 30 June 2016.
The development proposed is the erection of 18 dwellings comprising 13 four bedroom
houses and 5 two bedroom apartments with associated access, garages, parking and
landscaping.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Preliminary Matters
2. As part of the appeal the appellant has submitted a Unilateral Undertaking (UU)
under the provisions of section 106 of the above Act. This includes financial
contributions towards the cost of mitigating the impact of the development
upon European protected sites1 and a contribution towards the cost of-site
affordable housing provision. The UU also includes provision for managing
open space to be provided within the site. The LPA informed me that the
provisions relating to European protected sites overcome its concerns set out
within reason for refusal (RfR) no.5. I shall return to the UU below.
3. In August 2016, the LPA adopted its Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
Charging Schedule. As a consequence, the LPA has informed me that its
concerns regarding off-site open space provision (part RfR no.6) and highway
infrastructure (RfR no.7) would now be addressed through the CIL charging
regime. The LPA also informed me that its concerns regarding the potential
impact upon dormice (part RfR No.2) had been addressed through the
appellant’s updated ecology report.
4. The appellant and the LPA have agreed a Statement of Common Ground
(SoCG). Amongst other things this identifies those matters not in dispute and
those which are. This was amended and signed by both main parties after I
had opened the Hearing.

1

The New Forest Special Protection Area (SPA) and the Solent and Southampton SPA.

Page 119

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appeal Decision APP/C1760/W/16/3159869

5. At the Hearing I was also provided with an agreed SoCG in respect of
affordable housing viability. However, as I had not received this document or
any ‘viability evidence’ from the LPA before opening the Hearing, I informed
the parties that as this remained a matter of dispute between the main parties
there would be insufficient time to consider this matter, including undertaking
the necessary inquisitorial approach, during the scheduled one day Hearing. I
also informed the main parties that if they wished me to consider the LPA’s
evidence on affordable housing viability and the appellant’s ‘Affordable Housing
Viability – Supplementary Information’, which I also did not receive before
opening the Hearing, then a further sitting day would need to be arranged.
6. At the request of both main parties I held a Hearing on 5 April 2017 to
consider, with the exception of affordable housing viability, those matters in
dispute by the main parties. This Hearing was then adjourned at the end of
the day to allow the LPA additional time to consider whether or not a further
sitting day should be arranged to consider its evidence on affordable housing
viability. I was subsequently informed by the LPA that it was content for me to
determine the appeal without considering any of the viability evidence that was
presented to me on 5 April 2017. The Hearing was closed on 11 April 2017.
7. On behalf of the appellant, some additional drawings, including proposed street
scenes were submitted as part of the appeal. Both the LPA and the Parish
Council were aware of these additional drawings and informed me that they
would not be prejudiced if I were to take them into account in determining the
appeal. As these drawings do not amend the proposed development and were
available on the LPA’s website for a considerable period of time before the
Hearing opened I have taken them into account in determining the appeal. I
have treated the proposed street scenes as illustrative only.
Main Issues
8. The three main issues are: firstly, the effect upon the character and
appearance of the area, having particular regard to the Chilworth Residential
Area of Special Character2 (RASC); secondly, the effect upon nature
conservation interests, having particular regard to bats and the neighbouring
Chilworth Common Site of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) and;
thirdly, whether the proposal should include some on-site provision for
affordable housing and, if not, whether the proposed off-site affordable housing
contribution would be appropriate.
Reasons
Planning Policy
9. The development plan includes the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan
(LP), which was adopted in 2016. The most relevant policies to the
determination of this appeal are: COM2 (settlement hierarchy3), COM7
(affordable housing), E1 (high quality development), E4 (RASC) and E5
(biodiversity).
10. The Chilworth Village Design Statement was adopted by the LPA as a
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) in 2006. Amongst other things, it
identifies a number of key points for the future of the village. These include
2
3

Part of Chilworth, including the appeal site, is identified within the development plan as a RASC.
Chilworth is identified as a Key Service Centre.

2

Page 120

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appeal Decision APP/C1760/W/16/3159869

retaining the character of low density residential development in large plots to
maintain and protect the spacious wooded appearance of the village. The SPD
has been produced by local residents with the support of the Parish Council and
it has been subject to a process of public consultation. It can be given
considerable weight in the determination of this appeal.
11. My attention has also been drawn to the LPA’s Planning Advice Note (PAN)
‘Revised Local Plan Policy COM7 Affordable Housing Financial Contributions’
which was published in 2016 as an interim note until an Affordable Housing
SPD is produced. It is unclear if this PAN has been subject to a process of
public consultation. It carries limited weight in this appeal.
12. The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) is an important
material consideration that can also be given considerable weight.
Character and Appearance
13. This 1.7 ha site lies within the settlement boundary for Chilworth as identified
within the LP. The main body of the site is set back from Chilworth Road (the
A27) and includes the property known as Holly Lodge, part of the neighbouring
rear garden of Heathfield and numerous trees that are the subject of a Tree
Preservation Order (TPO). The village hall and playing field lie to the west and
the above noted SINC abuts the southern boundary of the site.
14. As I saw during my visits, the important and pleasing attributes of the village
and RASC are derived primarily from the substantial houses which are set in
generous plots with mature tree planting. As noted within the SPD, there are
various house styles encompassing many periods of domestic architecture.
15. A few mock Georgian style houses can be found within the village. However, in
the main, the dwellings within the RASC are large individually designed houses
with brick walls and clay tile roofs. There are no mock Georgian housing
estates or housing squares and no buildings that are designed to stand out as a
landmark. The variation in the style of the buildings and the absence of
formality in their design and layout adds to the attractive qualities of the RASC.
16. I concur with both main parties that in principle the appeal site is
suitable/capable of accommodating some new/additional residential
development. However, as set out within the development plan, the resulting
sizes of the plots should not be significantly smaller than those in the
immediate vicinity and the size, scale, layout, type, siting and detailed design
should be compatible with the character of that in the RASC.
17. As noted by the Inspector who determined a recent appeal4 for a dwelling on
another site within the RASC, given the provisions of LP policy E4, it is
appropriate to compare proposed plot sizes to those in the immediate vicinity.
In this regard, the LPA has calculated the plot sizes of five properties on the
opposite side of the A27 to the appeal site. As these are the nearest plots to
the site that lie within the RASC this comprises a reasonable assessment of the
immediate vicinity for the purposes of LP policy E4. It would be a
misapplication of this policy to include plots which lie outside the RASC.
18. The LPA has calculated that the plot sizes of the five properties within the
immediate vicinity of the appeal site vary between 0.1 ha – 0.4ha. It has also
4

APP/C1760/W/16/3159612

3

Page 121

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appeal Decision APP/C1760/W/16/3159869

calculated that the plot sizes of the proposed properties would vary between
0.02 ha – 0.14 ha. The appellant has calculated that the smallest of the
proposed plots would be 0.03 ha and I note that the remainder of the plots for
Holly Lodge and Heathfield would be in keeping with the five plots on the
opposite side of the A27. However, I concur with the LPA that the majority of
the proposed plot sizes would be significantly smaller than those in the
immediate vicinity. The proposal would erode the spacious settings of the
dwellings within the RASC and conflict with LP policy E4(a) and the aims and
objectives of the SPD. This weighs heavily against granting permission.
19. The proposed two and a half storey buildings would include a mix of detached,
semi-detached houses and five apartments. The size (excluding plot size),
scale and type of dwellings would not harm the special qualities of the RASC
and these elements of the proposal would accord with aspects of LP policy
E4(b). The design5 of the proposed development was supported by the Test
Valley Architect’s Advisory Panel and I consider that the proposed buildings,
which would include chimneys, setbacks for the roofs to break up the roofline,
sash windows, stone canopies to entrance doors and stone surrounds to the
windows would be designed to a high standard. In some parts of the country
the proposal could comfortably fit and enhance townscape quality.
20. The proposed layout would be designed to represent a traditional Georgian
Square with landmark buildings in the form of ‘gateway houses’ and a centrally
positioned mansion block. This would be very different to anything else within
the RASC or the village. Whilst being different does not necessarily equate to
harm, the very formal layout of the proposed development, the inclusion of
landmark buildings and the provision of 18 mock Georgian style dwellings on
the site would contrast awkwardly with the more unassuming, individually
designed houses and the ‘looser’ arrangement of buildings which contribute to
the special qualities of the area. From the playing field alongside and sections
of paths through the neighbouring woodland the proposal would appear as a
discordant addition to the RASC. It would adversely affect the character and
appearance of the area and be inappropriate in this village location. The failure
to respect the character of the area would conflict with LP policy E1(a)
21. The proposal includes planting numerous trees. In all likelihood, it would take
many years for these to establish and soften the impact of the new buildings.
Moreover, many trees growing within the site would be felled to accommodate
the proposed layout. These include a number of ‘Category B’ trees as defined
within the relevant British Standard6. Whilst BS 5837 is not planning policy, it
is widely used in the development industry and has been referred to by the
appellant and the LPA. It is an important material consideration.
22. Amongst other things, BS 5837 recommends that tree surveys should be
undertaken by an arboriculturist and made available to designers prior to any
specific proposals for development. However, the appellant’s arboriculturist
informed me that before undertaking his survey he was provided with an
indicative design layout. It is unsurprising therefore that all of the ‘Category B’
trees which it is proposed to fell have a recommendation to ‘remove’ from the
appellant’s arboriculturist. I concur with the LPA that the loss of many of these
trees of moderate quality would erode the attractive sylvan qualities of the
5
6

The Panel made it clear that ‘density’ was a separate matter of planning policy rather than design.
BS 5837:2012 ‘Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction – Recommendations’.

4

Page 122

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appeal Decision APP/C1760/W/16/3159869

RASC and the village. The proposed layout and siting conflicts with LP policy
E4(b). This also weighs heavily against granting planning permission.
23. I conclude on the first main issue that the proposal would harm the character
and appearance of the area.
SINC
24. The SINC extends to 12.26 ha. I understand that this comprises low lying
heath vegetation with mixed deciduous woodland and conifers. At the Hearing
I was also informed that the nature conservation interest of this area comprises
heathland habitat and a mosaic of lowland woodland which supports species of
plants and populations of invertebrates and reptiles.
25. I note the concerns of the County Council’s Ecologist regarding the proximity of
some of the proposed buildings to the SINC and the potential for fly
tipping/garden waste to be deposited within this neighbouring area of
importance for nature conservation and degradation of habitat. In this regard,
during my accompanied site visit, I noted several deposits of leaf litter within
the SINC and in close proximity to the boundary fence of the appeal site.
26. Whilst I recognise the importance of safeguarding nature conservation interests
within the SINC it is not unusual to find residential properties in close proximity
to the boundaries of areas of nature conservation interests/importance.
Moreover, separate powers exist to control unauthorised fly tipping/deposits of
garden waste. A planning condition could also be attached to a permission
requiring a suitable barrier, such as a tall hawthorn hedge, to deter any future
residents from undertaking such activity.
27. Two of the trees growing within the site and identified for removal have also
been identified as having a high potential to be used by roosting bats. Bats
and their roosts benefit from legal protection. Any loss or disturbance to bat
roosts would be likely to have an adverse effect upon this European protected
species. Circular 06/20057 states that it is essential that the presence or
otherwise of protected species, and the extent that they may be affected by a
proposed development, is established before planning permission is granted.
28. The appellant’s ecologist8 surveyed the trees in July 2016 and did not observe
any fresh bat droppings. An evening emergence survey on 12 September 2016
also failed to reveal any bats emerging from these trees. In addition, during
my accompanied site visit the appellant’s ecologist inspected both trees using
an endoscope and informed me that there was no evidence of bats roosting
within either tree. Whilst this tends to support the appellant’s argument that
bats would not be adversely affected by the proposal the emergence survey
occurred towards the end of the bats’ active season (May to September) and
the investigation that was undertaken during my visit fell outside this season.
29. On balance, there is insufficient survey information before me to establish the
likely effect upon bats. Whilst this could be resolved through additional survey
work during the bats’ active season, there are no exceptional circumstances to
justify addressing this matter by way of a planning condition. I therefore
concur with the County Council’s ecologist that it would be inappropriate to
grant planning permission at this time.
7
8

Biodiversity and Geological Conservation – Statutory obligations and their impact within the planning system.
Possessing a Bat Licence registered with Natural England.

5

Page 123

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appeal Decision APP/C1760/W/16/3159869

30. I conclude on the second main issue that the proposal could have an adverse
effect upon bats and would be at odds with the objectives of LP policy E5.
Affordable Housing
31. Where development would result in a net gain of 15 or more dwellings LP policy
COM7 requires the LPA to negotiate provision for up to 40% of dwellings to be
affordable. In assessing the suitability of sites for affordable housing provision
this policy also requires the LPA to take into account, amongst other things, the
economics of provision. Developments should also provide for the appropriate
integration of affordable and market housing.
32. I note from the SoCG on affordable housing viability that the appellant
considers that the proposed development would be unable to support on-site
affordable housing provision but could support an off-site contribution of
£425,000 in lieu of on-site affordable housing. The LPA, using methodology
based on its PAN, has argued that the development could support on-site
affordable housing and if an off-site contribution is necessary this should be
about £1.3m.
33. Both main parties have employed the services of those with expertise in
undertaking viability assessments. However, as set out above, I only have
before me the appellant’s assessment/appraisal of affordable housing viability9.
However, this reveals a residual land value of just over £1.6m and identifies an
off-site payment of £160,000. Whilst this is different to what is set out within
the SoCG (and the completed UU) and would need to be explored with the
appellant if I was to allow the appeal, I have no cogent evidence from the LPA
to substantiate its argument on this matter and to refute the appellant’s
appraisal. There is a greater weight of evidence before me to indicate that the
development could not support on-site affordable housing provision and that
the financial contribution towards off-site affordable housing provision should
be not less than £160,000.
34. I conclude on the third main issue that it would be inappropriate for the
proposed development to include on-site affordable housing provision and the
proposed off-site affordable housing contribution would be appropriate. The
development would accord with the provisions of LP policy COM7.
Other Matters
35. The proposed development would add to the supply and choice of housing
within the Borough. Occupiers of the dwellings would also have convenient
access to services and facilities. In addition, the proposal would provide some
support to the construction industry. These matters can be given limited
weight within the planning balance.
36. The appellant’s CIL Regulation 122 Compliance Statement, the various
consultation responses, the LPA’s Regulation 19 Pre-Submission Habitat
Regulations Assessment document and the answers that I was given at the
Hearing on behalf of the main parties lead me to find that the obligations
contained within the UU comply with the provisions of paragraph 204 of the
Framework and the provisions of the Community Infrastructure Levy
Regulations 2010 (as amended). I have therefore taken them into account.
9

This comprises Appendix 7 to the Appellant’s Supplementary Appeal Statement dated 3 February 2017 and
received well in advance of the opening of the Hearing.

6

Page 124

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appeal Decision APP/C1760/W/16/3159869

37. I note the findings of the Inspector who allowed an appeal for four detached
houses on another site in Chilworth (ref. APP/C1760/W/16/3152135).
However, that development was very different to what is before me and each
case must be determined on its own merits. This previous decision does not
set a precedent that I must follow.
38. Whilst I note the other concerns of some interested parties they do not lend
weight to the arguments for withholding permission.
Planning Balance / Overall Conclusion
39. My findings in respect of the third main issue and the other matters above do
not outweigh the harm that I have found in respect of the character and
appearance of the area. Furthermore, although the appeal site lies within the
settlement boundary the conflict with LP policies E1, E4 and E5 leads me to find
that the proposal would also be at odds with LP policy COM2 and in conflict
with the development plan as a whole. The proposal would fail to satisfy the
environmental dimension to sustainable development, as defined within the
Framework. I therefore conclude that the appeal should not succeed.

Neil Pope
Inspector

7

Page 125

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

Appeal Decision APP/C1760/W/16/3159869

APPEARANCES
FOR THE APPELLANT:
Mr C Rees

Director of Planning, Savills

Ms L Lowans BSc (Hons),
MCIEEM

Lowans Ecology & Associates

Mr B Draper BSC (Hons) Arb,
TechCert (ArborA),
CertArb(RFS)

Ecourban Ltd

Mr M Sturman MRICS

Intelligent Land

FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY:
Ms A Jahn MA, MRTPI, MCMI

Senior Planning Officer

Ms L Ward BA (Hons) LA, Dip
LA, CMLI

Landscape Architect

Ms J Ryan MRTPI

Planning Policy Officer

Mr J Owen MRTPI

Development Manager

Mr D Cox DipArb, RFS, FArbA

Tree Officer

Ms J Windebank

Housing Development Manager

Mr A Egglesfield

Senior Ecologist, Hampshire County Council

Mr R Miller MRICS

Partner, Vail Williams

INTERESTED PERSONS:
Mr M Gilks
Cllr Mrs A Finlay

Solicitor for Chilworth Parish Council
Chairman, Chilworth Parish Council

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED AT THE HEARING:
Document 1
Amended Draft UU
Document 2
Signed and amended SoCG
Document 3
The LPA’s updated/amended Statement of Case
Document 4
Plans to Ms Ward’s proof of evidence
Document 5
SoCG (Affordable Housing)
Document 6
Suggested planning conditions
Document 7
The appellant’s CIL Reg 22 Compliance Statement
Document 8
A1 sized copies of tree protection drawings
Document 9
Completed UU

8

Page 126

91.4m

Playing Field

b

The Chilworth Arms
(PH)

Page 127

PLOT 10

PLOT 9

Chilworth
Hall

a

10 9

PLOT 7

PLOT 5

War
Memorial

5
7

13

11

10

10

9

9

3
3

PLOT 3

PLOT 1

5
7

1

3

1

5
7

Fern Grove

1

4

2

V

V

a

V

14 12

V

Bin Store

12

PLOTS 11-15

11 13

3

1

sey

To Rom

2

4
4

15 15

8

8

14

6

4

2

6

2

Hurstwood

8

6

Cycle Store

16 16

16

PLOT 8

PLOT 6

PLOT 4

PLOT 2

PLOT 16

Holly Lodge

PLOT 17

17 17

17

Refuse Collection

WOR

Heathfield

Heathfield

CHIL

PLOT 18

Location of private
FW pumping station

A27

Chilworth Court

18

TH R
OAD

18
18
b

Chilworth
Lodge

91.1m

Cedar Hayes

3

27 / M

on / M

thampt

To Sou

0m

KEY

10m

20m

Post and rail fence

Close boarded fence 1.8m high

Site boundary

Building to be removed

New planting

New hedge

Tree to be removed

Existing tree

New tree

30m

initial

date

drawing no

drawn by

HB

enquiries@faap.co.uk

tel (01672) 569444
fax (01672) 569488

19 High Street
Pewsey
Wiltshire
SN9 5AF

151102 - 100

scale

1:500 @A1

Site Plan

drawing

HOLLY LODGE
Chilworth, Hampshire

project

rev

date

Nov '15

This drawing is copyright and may not be reproduced in any part of
form without the written consent of Fowler Architecture and Planning

Contractors, Sub Contractors and Suppliers are to check all relevant
dimensions and levels of site and buildings before commencing any
shop drawings or building work.

revisions

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 2 November 2021

